UNCLASSIFIED

AD NUMBER: AD0862478									
LIMITATION CHANGES									
TO:									
Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.									
FROM:									
Distribution authorized to U.S. Gov't. agencies and their contra Export Controlled; Oct 1969. Other requests shall be referred to Flight Dynamics Laboratory, Wright-Patterson AFB, OH 45433.	actors; to Air Force								
AUTHORITY									
AFFDL ltr dtd 25 Oct 1972									

AFFDL-TR-69-106

8

47

8

DESIGN AND FABRICATION

OF AN

EXPERIMENTAL ELECTROLUMINESCENT DISPLAY PANEL

L. (N) ADDIS, B. J. WIERENGA, AND C. E. BLANCHARD Instrument Division Lear Siegler, Inc.

October 1969



This document is subject to special export controls and each transmittal to foreign governments or foreign nationals may be made only with prior approval of the Air Force Flight Dynamics Laboratory (FDCR), Wright-Patterson AFB, Ohio 45433.

> FLIGHT DYNAMICS LABORATORY AIR FORCE SYSTEM COMMAND WRIGHT-PATTERSON AIR FORCE BASE OHIO

DESIGN AND FABRICATION

.

OF AN

EXPERIMENTAL ELECTROLUMINESCENT DISPLAY PANEL

L. (N) ADDIS, B. J. WIERENGA, AND C.E. BLANCHARD Instrument Division Lear Siegler, Inc.

This document is subject to special export controls and each transmittal to foreign governments or foreign nationals may be made only with prior approval of the Air Force Flight Dynamics Laboratory (FDCR), Wright-Patterson AFB, Ohio 45433.

I



NOTICE

When Government drawings, specifications, or other data are used for any purpose other than in connection with a definitely related Government procurement operation, the United States Government thereby incurs no responsibility nor any obligation whatsoever; and the fact that the government may have formulated, furnished, or in any way supplied the said drawings, specifications, or other data, is not to be regarded by implication or otherwise as in any manner licensing the holder or any other person or corporation, or conveying any rights or permission to manufacture, use, or sell any patented invention that may in any way be related thereto.

This document is subject to special export controls and each transmittal to foreign governments or foreign nationals may be made only with prior approval of the Air Force Flight Dynamics Laboratory (FDCR), Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio 45444.

This technical report is limited because it contains technology identifiable with items in the Department of State Federal Register, Volume 31, Number 233, Part II, Title 22, Chapter I, Subchapter M, dated 2 December 1966.

Copies of this report should not be returned unless return is required by security considerations, contractual obligations, or notice on a specific document.

FOREWORD

This report presents a summary of the work done to develop an experimental display panel using electroluminescence with which to conduct cockpit lighting evaluations. The work was performed under Air Force Contract F33615-67-C-1583 for which Captain Bruce M. Bertram and Lieutenant David Turney served as task engineers. This task is an element of Project 6190 for which Mr. John H. Kearns serves as Project Engineer. Mr. James A. Townsend, Group Leader, contributed the conceptual display design of the Runway Displacement Indicator.

The work effort covers the period 1 March 1967 through 15 April 1969. The work effort at LSI was conducted by Baldwin Wierenga, Clark Blanchard, James Skripka, Robert Kurti and Ernest Verhulst. Lercy Addis was the LSI project engineer. The effort was performed for the Air Force Flight Dynamics Laboratory, Air Force Systems Command, Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, under contract F33615-67-C-1583.

This report was submitted by the author in July 1969 and bears the LSI internal publication number GRR-016-0669.

This technical report has been reviewed and is approved.

Tour & Anderson

LOREN A. ANDERSON, Lt Col, USAF Chief, Control Systems Research Branch Flight Control Division AF Flight Dynamics Laboratory

ABSTRACT

This report describes in detail the work expended by the Instrument Division of Lear Siegler, Inc. to design and develop an experimental electroluminescent display panel. This panel includes all displays necessary for the pilot to operate the aircraft. The format for the display was derived from the PIFAX program. The displays are grouped in three categories

- a. Light reflecting or flood lighted. This category includes all the mechanical, EL-wedge lighted displays.
- b. Transilluminated or back lighted. This category includes all the EL backlighted panels and displays.
- c. Light emitting. This category includes all the solid state electroluminescent displays that utilize high contrast for light reflectance control.

This abstract is subject to special export controls and each transmittal to foreign governments or foreign nationals may be made only with prior approval of the Air Force Flight Dynamics Laboratory (FDCR), Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio 45433.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

.

1

1

1

I

1

1

I

1

1

1

1

I

Section		Page No.
I	INTRODUCTION	1
II	PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT	7
	Preliminary Work	10
	Preliminary Flight Test Preparation	10
	Heat Analysis	17
	Lighting Techniques	23
	Light Reflecting Displays	23
	Transilluminated Displays	23
III	DISPLAY DEFINITION	25
IV	INSTRUMENT DESIGN	29
	Flight Instruments	29
	At ⁺ itude Director Indicator (Model 4058Y)	29
	Horizontal Situation Indicator (Model 4076K)	34
	Altitude/Vertical Velocity Indicator	39
	Air Data Displays	46
	Engine Instrument Subsystem	52
	Display Description	52
	Display Decoding	57
	Electroluminescent Lamp Selection	57
	Conversion Techniques	59
	Landing Instrument Subsystem	69
	General	69
	Display Philosophy	71
	Mechanization Philosophy	77
	Functional Operation	81
	Power Control	91
	Test Unit	93
	Solid State Clock	94
v	SUMMARY	100

V

SUMMARY

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

Π

Π

Π

Ι

I

I

I

I

I

I

T

I

I

T

Π

Figure	Title	Page No.
1	Electroluminescent Lighted Flight Instrument Panel	5
2	Current Status of T-39 Advanced Display System	8
3	T-39 EL Panel in Simulator	9
4	Flight Test Equipment	11
5	Brightness-Voltage Curve for Test Lamp	14
6	Brightness-Voltage Curve for Test Lamp	15
7	Brightness-Voltage Curve for Test Lamp	16
8	Panel with Direct Sunlight Areas Delineated	18
9	T-39 EL Lamp Life Test	19
10	Heat Transfer Circuit	21
11	DC Torquers	22
12	Display Parameters Chart	26
13	Model 4058Y ADI Mechanism	30
14	Model 4058Y ADI Pitch Axis	31
15	ADI Schematic Block Diagram	32
16	Flight Path Angle Mechanism	33
17	ADI El Lighting Subassembly	33
18	Model 4058Y ADI Installation Data Dimensions	35
19	Model 4058Y ADI Inputs	36
20	Model 4058Y ADI Amplifier Block Diagram	37
21	HSI EL Lighting Wedge	38
22	Model 4076K HSI Mechanism	38
23	HSI Schematic Block Diagram	41
24	Model 4076K HSI Installation Data	42
25	Model 4076K HSI Inputs	43
26	Model 7725E Altitude/Vertical Velocity Indicator	44
27	Model 7725E Altitude/Vertical Velocity Indicator Block Diagram	45
28	Model 7725E AVVI Subassemblies	47
29	Model 7725E AVVI Inputs	48
30	EL Lighting Assembly for the Indicator Airspeed, Altitude and Vertical Velocity Indicators	49
31	Altimeter Installation Data	49
32	Vertical Velocity Installation Data	50
33	Indicated Airspeed Installation Data	50
34	Altitude Indicator Schematic	51
35	Vertical Velocity Indicator Schematic	51
36	Indicated Airspeed Indicator Schematic	51

vi

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS (cont)

1

**

1

I

ł

2

1

I

1

1

1

-2

Figure	Title	Page No
37	Typical Lighted Panel	50
38	EL Engine Display	52
39	EL Instrument Construction	53
40	Display Decoding	55
41	Engine Instrument System Convertor	58
42	EGT Block Diagram	60
43	RPM Block Diagram	62
44	Fuel Quantity Block Diagram	63
45	Analog-To-Digital Converter Block Diagnam	66
46	Power Supply Schematic	67
47	Landing Instrument Subsystem	68
48	Landing Indicators Grouping	69
49	Landing Sequence Indicator	70
50	Speed Error Indicator	71
51	Runway Displacement Indicator Installation	72
	Data	74
52	Runway Displacement Indicator	75
53	Apparent Runway Width Vs. Range to Touchdown	76
54	Runway Displacement Indicator With Upper Access Plate Removed	78
55	Converter With Card Extended	70
56	EL Landing Instruments Subsystem Block Diagram	80
57	Landing Sequence Flow Diagram	82
58	Speed Error Signal Flow Diagram	83
59	Speed Error Rate Flow Diagram	84
60	Typical Pulse Width/Brightness Curve	86
61	Scan Control of EL Segment	87
62	Localizer-Altitude Signal Flow Diagram	87
63	Signal Timing Diagram	89
64	Lateral Rate Flow Diagram	91
65	Heading Error Flow Diagram	92
66	Power Supply Module	92
67	Test Unit	94
68	Solid-State Clock Installation Data	95
69	Real Time Display Block Diagram	97
70	Event Timer Block Diagram	98
71	T-39 EL Panel Light	100
72	Lighting Control Philosophy	101



SECTION I

INTRODUCTION

This program (AF Contract F33615-67-C-1583) was initiated 1 March 1967 by the Air Force Flight Dynamics Laboratory, Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio, with the Instrument Division of Lear Siegler, Inc. This program had a single objective -- to develop an experimental display panel capable of presenting, through the use of advanced solid state and electromechanical techniques, clear and unambiguous flight control information.

The experimental panel developed under this contract is intended to be a tool which will be utilized to study all aspects of aircraft instrument panel lighting under actual flight conditions. Controls and adjustments are made available on the panel to both trim the panel lighting for maximum uniformity and/or vary the light intensity contour across the face of the instrument panel. These will enable the experimenter to evaluate instrument panel lighting fully under all flight ambient conditions.

This panel -- to be installed in a T-39 jet trainer -- demonstrates the three lighting techniques currently in use within the Air Force and those contemplated for near future application. These three lighting techniques are

- Light reflecting display illumination
- Transillumination
- Light emitting displays

It is recognized by the lighting industry that the most important single factor governing instrument and panel lighting is light uniformity. If the light is not uniform within and between instruments, the pilot will either lose information in the poorly lighted areas of the display, or suffer degradation of dark adaptation due to the brighter hot spots. The non-uniform light intensity problem, coupled with the problem of non-uniform color, also increases the pilot's eye strain and fatigue. The lack of lighting uniformity is recognized as a serious problem in all operational aircraft. For example, tactical aircraft pilots in southeast Asia are often required to find poorly lighted or unlighted targets concealed in the jungle. They find it impossible to attain the level of dark adaptation required to perform these tasks, due to the poor instrument lighting in their cockrits. As a result they turn off the instrument lights. cover the warning lights with masking tape, chewing gum, or anything else that is handy, and fly by starlight.

Electroluminescence is a cold, area source of light, and the light emitted is uniform over the entire light-emitting surface of the lamp. This is true at all applied voltages and thus at all resulting light levels -- from dim to bright. Also, since the color of the light is dependent primarily on the EL phosphor composition, and secondly on the frequency of the excitation voltage, the color is independent of the amplitude of the applied voltage and therefore does not change as the brightness of the lamp is varied. In addition the color is, in a layman's terms, softer and more pleasing to the eye, and less apt to cause eye strain or fatigue.

It is seen, then, that the two important characteristics of light intensity uniformity and color uniformity are attainable with EL and are lacking with the incandescent bulb.

Basic to the design of aircraft displays are the requirements for high reliability, minimum weight and size, and low power consumption. It is increasingly difficult for today's electromechanical instruments to meet these requirements because of the inherent complex assemblies of rotating pointers, revolving drums, moving tapes, gear trains, precision meter movements, servomotors, slip rings, and lighting systems. If the instrument requirements such as high reliability, minimum weight and size, and low power consumption are to be met, it is necessary to employ the conversion of electrical signals to information presentations using solid-state techniques rather than rely on the movement of mass for information presentation. Digital control, improved reliability, insensitivity to shock and vibration. minimized display weight, reduced size and power requirements. non-catastrophic failure, fast response, format versatility, and scale variability, all tend to motivate the use of solid-state techniques for the presentation of display information.

Cargo aircraft pilots complain of loss of information due to shadows or displays that disappear or appear "too bright" as the overall panel lighting intensity is varied.

The source of this lighting problem is the incandescent bulb. Up to now the incandescent bulb has been the most effective source of light which could be used to illuminate instruments and panels. But the characteristics of the lighting which they provide fall well short of desired goals. There are two basic reasons why the incandescent bulb is less than ideally suited for lighting aerospace crew stations. First, the light emitted from the subminiature lamps comes from an extremely small filament, hence, the bulb approaches a point source of light with respect to the larger surface area of the instrument it is illuminating. The light on the display face is brightest near the bulbs or the light source such as the wedge in the ADI, and the portions of the display further from the source become darker depending on how far they are from the source. When the light intensity is reduced, the non-uniformity of the light distribution becomes worse.

The second problem encountered with the incandescent bulb is nonuniform color. The color of the light within an instrument is dependent upon (1) the temperature of the filament of the bulbs emitting the light and (2) the characteristics of any filters through which the light must pass. The color will, by definition, change as the brightness of the bulbs is reduced.

The T-39 panel employs electroluminescence (EL) as a solution to the lighting problem. In its most elementary form, an EL lamp is a layer of a light-emitting phosphor sandwiched between two electrically conductive surfaces called electrodes. When a voltage of the proper form is applied across the electrodes, light is emitted from the phosphor material. To make the light useful, one of the electrodes must be transparent so the light can get out of the lamp and be seen by the observer. Normally this is accomplished by applying a clear conductive coating to one side of a piece of glass. Then the phosphor is deposited (usually by spraying) on the clear conductive coating, and the second electrode is then deposited on the back of the phosphor layer. This electrode is normally some metallic material such as aluminum or indium which is evaporated onto the phosphor layer. The shape of the lamp is defined by the shape of the two electrodes, which can be made in any desired geometric shape or size.

Two EL phosphor colors are utilized in the T-39 lamps. These colors -- green and yellow -- were selected because they offer the best brightness-life potentials available in todays EL phosphors. The green and yellow light emitting displays utilize these basic color phosphors without color conversion. The white lighting in the transilluminated and light reflecting displays is accomplished by "color converting" the green phosphor emission through a dye conversion process developed by LSI for use on the LEM spacecraft instruments.

The instrument panel format selected for the electroluminescent panel was derived from the PIFAX instrument group developed jointly by the Air Force and the Federal Aviation Agency. As such, displays are incorporated which were developed for use in manually controlled and/or monitored Category III-c landings. These displays have been changed slightly in format so as to be more adaptable to solid-state implementation.

The landing instrument group clustered around the attitude director indicator and the engine instrument group at the right of the panel offer ideal opportunities to demonstrate the unique advantages of electroluminescence. These displays demonstrate the wide choice of formats and scale selections that are available to the EL designer. See Figure 1.

With these two groups of displays, LSI was able to demonstrate an annunciator panel, a moving pointer that expands in width, and a new concept in limit markers. Each will be described in detail in later sections of this report.

H

SECTION II

PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT

This program to develop an electroluminescent flight instrument panel for the T-39 was initiated March 1, 1967, as a one-year development program. A system of modified PERT diagrams was utilized to plan and record program progress. The system PERT diagram, Figure 2, shows that schedule slippages due to various factors caused a total program delay of approximately one year, which resulted in the delivery of the T-39 electroluminescent panel on April 15, 1969.

Some of the factors which contributed to this one year delay were:

- a. Non-availability of aircraft system interface information the panel was originally scheduled to go in aircraft No. 649; however, during the program, changes were made so that the panel could be installed in aircraft No. 868. The intended installation of the panel fluctuated between these two aircraft, with the eventual outcome that the panel is now to be installed in aircraft No. 649.
- b. Inability of vendors to produce to the required schedule and specification - a ceramic back plate for the electroluminescent emitting lamps on the panel was developed with vendor cooperation. After LSI had devoted approximately 3 months to developing this back plate concept, the vendor withdrew their support and stated that they would not be able to furnish the back plates to the required specifications. This meant that LSI had to develop a new back plate configuration.
- c. During the period of the contract, LSI suffered a prolonged labor strike. This strike was in progress for approximately four months and resulted in that amount of slippage to the EL panel.

On April 15, 1969, a formal delivery and presentation of the panel to the Air Force was conducted at LSI. As a preparation for this ceremony, the electroluminescent panel was installed in a T-39 mock-up, and the instruments were suitably driven with a simulator to produce a real time simulation of an instrument approach and landing. This demonstration was made to approximately 40 Air Force personnel. The panel installed in the mockup is shown in Figure 3.





PRELIMINARY WORK

The application of electroluminescence to an aircraft instrument panel required that three areas be clarified:

- a. The brightness contrast criteria for viewing light-emitting displays in all ambients had to be investigated to ascertain that EL could indeed provide a display with adequate contrast to be seen in all operating environments.
- b. The temperature environment of the T-39 had to be evaluated and an adequate electroluminescent display life provided.
- c. The various lighting techniques applicable to present and future aircraft cockpit lighting problems had to be identified so they could be represented on the EL panel if it would truly be able to serve as a lighting evaluation tool.

Preliminary Flight Test Preparation

Flight and ground tests were initiated by LSI and the Air Force to determine the EL brightnesses required and the panel operating temperatures. Sample lamps and a portable power supply were built for the flight test. These lamps were evaluated in the T-39 in flight and provided data on:

- a. The effectiveness of the new high contrast techniques.
- b. The brightness at which the EL displays must be operated to be visible to the pilot.

1

- c. The optimum tilt angle for each display on the panel.
- d. The amount of and entry point of direct sunlight on the pilot's instrument panel.

It was anticipated that the main problem to overcome would be the specular reflections from bright objects in the cockpit; therefore, lamps were developed to reduce or eliminate this potential problem area. A tilting base for the lamp was fabricated so the operator could determine the optimum tilt angle for all display locations on the panel. The power supply was marked off in percentage of full scale to reduce any operator tendency to select the lamp operating voltage for other than optimum readability. Five pieces of equipment were fabricated for use on this flight test:

- a. A portable power supply.
- b. A tilting lamp base.
- c. Three test lamps.

This equipment is shown in Figure 4.

Portable Power Supply

The battery-powered supply was designed to be hand-held during the test. It furnished 1,000-cycle excitation for the lamps. The scale was graduated from 0 to 100% full scale and the output voltage range of the power supply was selected to bracket the brightness attained by the lamps at 250V, 400 cycle. The increased frequency did not cause a visible color shift on the lamps.

Test Lamps

Three test lamps of varying percent transmission and reflectance were built. These lamps were compared with the landing sequence indicator (see Table I). The test lamps were excited with 250V, 400 cycles sine wave. The sequence indicator shown as a reference was excited with 500V, 400 cycles, sine wave. The test lamps were 1-3/4''x 3-1/2'' x 2/10'' thick. They were hermetically sealed, using metal-



FLIGHT TEST EQUIPMENT FIGURE 4

Lamp	Excitation Volts-Freq.	% Trans. of Contrast Filter	Original Brightness	Brightness Through Contrast	% Reflectance	Color
Landing Sequence	500V 400 Hz	27%	74	20	3.2%	Green
Lamp #1	250V 400 Hz	24%	51	12	5.5%	Green
Lamp #5	250V 400 Hz	17%	47	8	2.7%	Green
Lamp #9	250V 400 Hz	27%	52	14	5.3%	Green
Landing Sequence	500V 400 Hz	27%	51.7	14	3.2%	Yellow
Lamp #1	250V 400 Hz	24%	23.7	5, 7	5.0%	Yellow
Lamp #5	250V 400 Hz	17%	20.6	3	2.1%	Yellow
Lamp #9	250V 400 Hz	27%	23.0	6.2	4.8%	Yellow

TABLE I PANEL BRIGHTNESS MEASUREMENT RESULTS

to-metal and glass-to-metal seals. The display format consisted of two 14-stroke alpha numeric characters - one green and one amber. The alpha numeric characters were 0, 725" high x 0.35" wide. They have a 15° slant and the individual segments are 0.050" wide. The glass substrate employs an advanced high contrast filter construction that features elimination of electrical losses and improvement in total reflection by the elimination of the reflections from the front electrode. The values shown in Table I indicate the decrease in brightness due to the 250V excitation. The effect of the improved high contrast in reducing specular glare and thus increasing the visibility of the lamps is not evident in Table I. This is an important feature of the test lamps, as was evidenced in the test flight.

Tests Performed

Three types of tests were flown in the T-39.

- a. Brightness measurements on the panel.
- b. Brightness of the lamp for readability.
- c. The amount and location of direct sunlight on the panel.

Panel Brightness

The electroluminescent panel for the T-39 is shown in Figure 1. A bright diffuse reflector disk was mounted at various locations on the panel. The brightness readings were taken with a portable spectrospot photometer, Type UB-1. The brightness of the disk did not vary appreciably with panel location; however, clouds or direct sunlight did affect it greatly.

Table II is a summary of the results of the panel brightness measurements. The reflector disk had a diffused reflectance of approximately 80%. The brightness values in Table II are the uncorrected measured values.

Lamp Visibility

Figures 5, 6, and 7 are plots of data taken from lamps 1, 5, and 9, respectively, prior to the flight test. The points designated by dots and crosses were taken with 400 cycle lamp excitation. The dots and crosses encircled are with the portable power supply. Points of acceptable readability are shown for each lamp with the lamp mounted in the lower right center of the T-39 panel. These points were taken when the lamp was not in direct sunlight. Acceptable brightness values for the yellow and green for each lamp are indicated on the plots. It may be seen that the green values for the lamps 5 and 9 are within the region attainable with 250V, 400 cycle, excitation. The yellow, however, does not reach an acceptable brightness with the 250V, 400 cycle, excitation. The yellow, double the taken attain the taken are the taken attained to be visible in the T-39.

TABLE II PANEL BRIGHTNESS READINGS

Disc Location	Type of Illumination	Measured Brightness, Ft-Lamberts
Panel Scan	Indirect	70-90
Lower Right	Indirect	90
Lower Right	Indirect diffused by cloud	310
Lower Right	Direct Sun	6,500



,

14

I



.



Direct Sunlight Ambient

It was at first thought that direct sunlight illumination of the T-39 instrument panel would not be a problem. Direct sunlight, however, can strike the panel by coming through the rear windows as shown in Figure 8. During this initial flight test evaluation, it was determined that -- although the electroluminescent displays were visible in the bright sunlight ambient -- it did not have sufficient contrast for the pilot to be able to extract information from them without concentration. Further investigation in the T-39 during this same flight revealed that the high contrast display was visible in a higher light ambient than the caution light enunciator panel located in the center console. From the curves taken during this flight test, it was determined that a display emission of 17 foot-lamberts through the contrast layers would be visible in all ambients if the light falling on the displays was controlled with a polarizing filter.

Control of light entering the cockpit and falling on the face of the displays was affected by the addition of polarizing filters on the displays and cross polarizing filters on the rear windows of the aircraft to limit the amount of light that would be re-reflected from the display surface. This polarizing light control was tried on a second flight test and was found to be effective in controlling the light, thus rendering the displays visible in all light ambients including direct with the 17 foot-lamberts brightness.

The definition of life for the EL displays was made on this flight test. Life of the emitting displays on the T-39 panel is defined as that point in time which, with an increasing voltage, the displays will no longer maintain 17 foot-lamberts display brightness through the filters.

Life test of lamps during the T-39 program assured that a minimum of 1,000 hours would be attainable with the high contrast lamps used on both the engine instruments and the landing instruments. A typical EL lamp life test curve at room temperature is shown in Figure 9. This shows the life of the green and the yellow phosphors with the 800 cycle full wave rectified excitation that is necessary to maintain a display brightness of 17 foot-lamberts of the yellow phosphor.

Heat Analysis

The phosphor life and brightness of operating displays deteriorate under heat. This deterioration occurs only when the displays are operating in a heated environment; the storage of an EL lamp in a hot ambient will not degrade its life so long as the ambient is not sufficient to break down the structure of the lamp. This deterioration occurs as the lamp temperatures are raised from near absolute zero. For practical purposes, however, lamp life is based on a room ambient of





.

I

I

I

I

1

1

I

70°F. Life deterioration from the 70°F point is not greatly accelerated until temperatures beyond 110°F are reached in lamp operation. Since panel ambients in the T-39 were measured and found to be in excess of 160°F, it was obvious that some consideration had to be given to the amount of heat that would be directed on the EL displays. A two-fold approach to the problem was undertaken:

a. A heat analysis of the electroluminescent lamp structure, with its associated electronics, was completed.

A heat transfer analysis was run on the T-39 EL indicators. The analysis technique was similar to that used on the IBM-MOL program except that the computer was used in obtaining the solution of the heat transfer circuits.

The hottest indicator was the pressure indicator. The parameters which were used in the analysis are the following:

Cockpit ambient temperature	70°F	$\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{i}}$
Cockpit wall temperature	90°F	T2
Panel temperature	120°F	TF
Behind panel ambient temperature	100°F	T ₃
Behind panel wall temperature	110°F	T4
Power dissipation in lamp	0.5 watts	9.
Power dissipation in electronics	4.8 watts	9 _B

The resulting steady state temperatures were calculated to be the following:

Temperature of EL lamp	115. 7°F	TA
Temperature of case	120.4°F	Та
Temperature of polarizer	107.6°F	Tc

The heat transfer circuit can be simplified to the one shown in Figure 10.

b. A concentrated effort was made to determine the heat sources in the panel and to reduce the heat from those sources so that the overall panel ambient would be more acceptable to electroluminescent displays. This study revealed that most of the heat was being generated by the two primary flight instruments -- the attitude director indicator, which accounted for approximately 30 volt-amps power comsumption, and the horizontal situation indicator, which accounted for approximately 50 volt-amps power consumption. Thermocouples placed between the ADI and HSI registered temperatures slightly in excess of 160°F after the displays had been operating for a 2-hour period.



HEAT TRANSFER CIRCUIT FIGURE 10

It was determined that the use of DC torquers in these displays would reduce their heat output significantly (see Figure 11). A program was begun, therefore, to replace the AC servo drives in these two instruments with DC servo drive mechanisms. This program involved the complete redesign of the internal mechanism of each display. The advantage of the DC servo mechanism to the EL panel application is, primarily, reduced power consumption. Since the DC servo motor consumes power only when it is being driven, there is no fixed phase excitation and no quadrature. This factor enabled LSI to reduce the power consumed by the attitude indicator from the 30 volt-amps of the AC servo drive unit to approximately 8 volt-amps for the DC servo drive unit, with a corresponding decrease in heat generated. A similar reduction in heat generation from 50 va to approximately 10 va was effected by the application of DC servo drive components in the horizontal situation indicator. The application of DC servos to these two instruments allows LSI to predict a panel operating temperature between the ADI and HSI in the order of 110°F, which will permit the electroluminescent displays to maintain their long life.

Other advantages of the DC torquer mechanisms are: reduced gear trains which decreases the number of bearings and gear



passes to be used, thus increasing their reliability; increased coupling stiffness which allows them to follow at higher rates and to reverse more readily; and increased response characteristics.

Lighting Techniques

Before becoming involved in a program to develop a tool for panel lighting evaluation, it was necessary to determine the various types of lighting techniques which should be incorporated in the electroluminescent panel.

All aircraft cockpit panel lighting can be broken into three basic categories, or techniques. These encompass all of the displays in present day aircraft, as well as those that are planned for near future aircraft. They are:

- a. Light reflecting displays.
- b. Transilluminated displays.
- c. Light emitting displays.

Light Reflecting Displays

In this category are the displays which utilize lamps mounted internal to the instrument to illuminate the display elements. These lamps may either floodlight the elements directly or they may be mounted to a light wedge through which the light is piped by a series of internal reflections to be emitted in a pattern determined by the wedge designer. Displays in this category rely on the contrast developed between the display elements and their backgrounds for visibility in all ambients. Internal lighting merely supplements normal ambients to retain the display contrast through the various ambients. Examples of light reflecting displays would be the attitude indicator, the horizontal situation indicator, the altimeter, airspeed indicator, and vertical velocity.

Transilluminated Displays

The category of transilluminated displays involves those displays that are back lighted. A lamp is mounted behind the display surface and light is transmitted through the display surface. Varying light transmission characteristics between the display surface and the surrounding surfaces cause the display to be seen. The lamp behind merely supplements the daylight visibility of this type of display. The light transmission through the various display elements is varied to attain the desired lighting effect for nighttime visibility. Examples of transilluminated displays would be the transilluminated panels, the passenger oxygen indicator, and the altitude/vertical velocity indicator.

Light Emitting Displays

The third lighting technique is that of light emitting displays. These displays rely on contrast developed by the light source between the display element and its background for visibility in all ambients. These displays require maximum contrast for visibility in high brightness ambients, for, if this contrast is not present, the display will not be seen. This is the category or technique into which most electroluminescent displays fall. The light emitting displays include the engine instruments, the various landing instruments, the clock, and pilot "C"-select fail display located on the course select panel.

I

SECTION III

DISPLAY DEFINITION

The development of the electroluminescent panel for the T-39 aircraft required that all display parameters of the T-39 be examined to ascertain that the electroluminescent panel would give the pilot the information he needed to fly the aircraft. A display definition chart was developed to assist in this examination. On this chart all display parameters were listed and categorized so that each would be covered in the final presentation. This display definition chart is shown in Figure 12. It includes the various parameters that the pilot requires to fly the aircraft, the location of these, how they are combined into multipurpose displays, the range of the parameters, the types of indices, the various colors or color coding as required, the type of lighting, the mechanism that is used to drive each display, the signal input characteristics, and the origin of the input signal.

The display parameter chart reflects all of the inputs that the pilot will see on the electroluminescent panel. It is a compilation of the basic information needed to design the T-39 electroluminescent panel. Many of the displays were very easy to place on the display parameter chart. All inputs were well defined. The signal characteristics were known or easy to attain.

Some information, however, was very difficult to obtain. This included some of the landing instruments where little or no thought had been given to the derivation of localizer rate and speed error rate. The signals for these parameters varied with the assigned aircraft so it was difficult in the beginning of the program to establish the signal inputs for localizer and speed since they could not be tied down until the specific aircraft was determined.

Engine instrumentation was also a problem area during the development of the display development. Much of the information existed but it was not in a form that was readily available to LSI. The fuel quantity system on the T-39 was especially difficult since the fuel sensing capacity bridge circuit is a closed circuit and is supplied by one manufacturer -- Simmonds Precision. It was felt that adding other output devices to the capacitive bridge would change the output of the bridge

	PARAMETER	LOCATION OF	TYPE OF DISPLAY	BANGE	SCALE FACTOR	MAJOR	IN TERMEDIATE	MINOR	COLOR	INDEX	LIGHTING REO D	BRIGHTNESS	READABILIT	ME
-	ADI OFF FLAS	401	FLM	H VIEN OR OUT OF VIEN										t
2	PITCH	A01	SPHERE MALES	140	IT MOVE MERT	EACH -0 *	EACH 5"	CALH THRE	PITCH UP-BLUE ANPER LRFT	PITCH UP-BLAUR	WHITE E.L.		*Fuk ± 19*	1 14
3	POLL	5.0×	BANK POLNTER	36-1	"NOVE WENT PER	EACH 30 [#] THRU	CALH OF THRU	LACH STHIN	B.ACK	WHOTE	WHITE ETC		<u>+</u>	UE UE
4	FUSHT PATH ARELE	A.0+	HOWING TAPE SCALL	1.30	SINCHES PER	EACH DE GREE	NONE	NON	POS. FPA GREV + FED	FDS FPA BLACK	WHITE E-L	<u> </u>	<u>+</u>	DI
9	VERTICAL P.D.	A.01	POINTER BAR	17 8 INCHES	2 2 MILLIAMPS PER	પ્રદેશ	NONE	NO-NL	hone	PDAYGLON ARC	WHETE E -L	1		0
8		A.01	PDISTER 648	2.7 8 HICHES	2.2 MILLIAMPS PER	1010.	6066	160 M	NONE	DAYGLON AR	WHITE ETC		+	1.
9	GLOS SLOPE DEV.	401	PD(8768	22 0075 0EV	SO NUCRONIPS	2 8075	NONE	NONL	WHITE DOTS ON	DAYELON ARL	WIDGE		<u> </u>	D
	TUPE BATE	Adr	PUINTER	2.2 INDEX IND THS	INN LIAM PLA	4.2.64	NUNE	-	BLAUR & RHITE	WHITE	WHIDGE	<u> </u>	+	+,
	HICLINGER TER	A01	SERLETIVE BALL	1		11.00	1				WHELE - L	<u> </u>		
-0	5.5, AGARM	401	PLAL	du vitte et	250 MCROAMPS	40%	-			PLAY GLOW FIRE	WHITE E-E			0
10	V.F.B. ALMIN	Adr	FLAG		250 INCROAMPS	-	~		-	PDAYGE ON FIRE	WHI DUE	<u> </u>	<u>+</u>	0
4	84848 AL 1	6 vivi	TAPE	0 10 000 FT	VARIABLE-SEE	NONE	NONE	10.14		BLACE WHETE	design for			4
13	447 647L	8.001	TAPE	0.70220,0007798	VARIABLE-SEE	6.40H 000 FT	NUM	EACH US FT	WHETE MARKS ON	INHITE TRIANGLE	WHITE E.S.		+	A.
ы		8001	FLAG		OUT OF VIEW	PE # 10 106 11	t	PERMITE	THE GRANE ALTH	PLACE CENTER	WHITE CTL		<u> </u>	Se Du
19	MACHINA	MACE INF	BULNE BAL	0 - 850 KTS	WHERE CHOOSEEP	EACH 500 875	EACH 100 A71		BLACK WITH	B.4175	WRITE F. F.		┿────	56
-		ALTINE TER	NOUND BOAL	-TRES FREY TO	+	LAUN COS F	E 404 00 FT	EAGH SO FT	BLAUB MITH	even Fig.	WEIKJ WHITE ETL		+	+
19	BADS of T SATE	ALT BATE		10000 P PM		BACH Lung LIPM	A ACM NO. 6 PM	1. A.C. M. Lun. 5. 1994	NHITE MARAINES		WEDGE WHITE Fol			1 11
-0		t	1	+	1		I HE H MO FF H		MANAINGS	weitt	WE FINGE			pr
10	AL HELLY H	#51	Adday for mettic	300*00TA*168	(*)£0.1*	EACH 30 th	64LH 0*	EAUN 5"	BLACK WITH WHITE	Wret 1 F	WHITE C.L		+	+
20	BELECTED HOS	#5i	PUBTER	300*00TATION	*H.+ *	USES AZINE TH	USES AZINUTH	USES AZINUT	USES AFIBUTH	WHETE WE TH BEALS	WE DEE		<u>+</u>	-
31	COURSE	#\$i	PUISTER	BED-OUTATION	PPL + F	USES APHOUTH	LINES A	ZIMLTH	PLACE	-	WHITE F L		<u> </u>	F.
83	COURSE DEV	a fr		22 8075 864	75 MICRO4MP5	2.0075			BLACE WITH	Vic Hold T.E.	WHITE ETL MINITE ETL		<u>+</u>	U
2.3		115a	Port TER	100 TA TION	Pres.	USES AZINUTH	USES AZINUTH	USES AZIMUTI	USES AZIMUTH	WHETE WITH BLACK	ANTE EL		+	+
24	COMPSE BEY WARE	#%i	FLAG		250 MICH GAMPS	DUALE	SCHLE -	SCALL	SCALL	TOAVGLUM FINL	while the		<u> </u>	0
29	70-79-30	mise .	FLAG	UFF TO FROM	-825 Ma - 10		+		10 MIT	STRATE	WHITE & L		<u> </u>	+-
26	BISTABLE	115a	TAR	0	E ME PER ME	EACH INCE			BLACK HITH	<u>+</u>	WEEKLA WHEEK COL		<u>+</u>	51
8.6	HEI BFT	1150	FLAG		out of view		1		R HE T WARKS	FEIA-EGEAMA E BHE	NEDGE		<u>+</u>	RE
34	DER SHUTTER	1150	FLAG	th ville on put	607 0F 1418	t	+	<u>†</u>	HLACE WHEEP	130.4.9038	WHITE F W			+
29	1	t			MICTIN - 20 VOC		<u> </u>		CPGRF BATER	<u> </u>	Shite English			H
30	COURSE SET	110	5508 ± 3+.0"	340.4	1	FACE 1	+	t	PLACE BACKGRIAND	t	WHILE F L WENGE			+
31		erta	8968	344.*			1		WHIT STREAM	1	1		<u>+</u>	┢
3.2			1	1			1		t	1		1		┢
33	LOCALIZER	LOCALIZET	6-L PRINTER	41 11 GMENTE	1	P DLB L: L L DIME P			LL GHELD	W 19759	21.99°F9	1796	WEITH SALES	+
14	LOCALIZE # BA TO	LOCALIZE'S HISPLAY	T'L PATE PELD	4758008615	EXPENSION OF LOC	FIRED CUBBER-			ETE GALEN	at 100 7 E	LUBBER I	1776.	1.12.1	┢
35		LOLALIZER DISPLAT	Ers, Pust te p	2 TRIABULES 0 49 SEGRE BTS	30 SEG INCH	FIRED LOBBER-	-		ET& VELSON	di hu ? E	L U BARE IN L LINE	17 FL.		+
90		LOLALUEN BISPLAY	USEN BUDTH OF	300 FT TO	BUR LINEAR				11.5011	4HITE	1	1.14		┢
87										<u> </u>	+		 	┢
38				1	1	1				t	+			┢

T-39 PANEL, DISPLAY DEFINITION CHART

DISPLAY PARAMETERS CHART FIGURE 12 (1 of 2)

ADABILITY	MECHANIS	DISPLI	ACY DIRECTION	SPEED	SPECIFIC INFORMATION	INPUT SIGNAL TYPE	SIGNAL ORIGIN	DISPLAY LGAD	LIMIT	DISPLAY INITIATE SIGNAL		1	
				1			<u> </u>						
FON 2 0	GEARLESS SERVO	4*	SPHERE WOVES UP FOR	90"PER SECOND		SYNCHRO ILSV	VENTICAL OVED	+					
	GEANLESS SERVO	22	POINTER MOVES RIGHT	300" PER SECOND	BOTTOM MOUNTED ROLE SCALE	SYNCHRO II, BY	VENTICAL GURG						
	DC TORQUE	4.	TAPE MOVES UP	F* PER SECOND		SYNCHRO ILBY	FPA COMPUTER						
	D ARSUNVAL	<i>r</i> .	NOVES TO RIGHT FOR		HIDES TO RIGHT WITH APPLI-	DC IN TO	FLIGHT DIRECTON	1.50			<u> </u>		
	DANSDAVAL	P	MOVES UP FOR PITCH UP COMMAND		HIDES DOWN NITH APPLICA	DC HLTO	FLIGHT DIRECTOR			<u> </u>	ļ	4	
	DARSUNVAL	7	MOVES UP FOR MAN	1	HIDES UP INTH APPLICATION	DC IN TO	GLID SLOPE			+			
	D AR -UNIAL	1			e electore	DC IN TO	RECE VER	18.84			l	+	
	GRAVITY ALT					A UPOIS	GANO	18.94			ļ		
	DARSUNVAL		IN VIEW INDICATES OUT			DC INTO	GLIDE SLOPE				ļ		
	D ARSUNVAL		IN VIEW IN INDICATES U.T.			E OHNIS DC IN TO	RECEIVER FULLINT DIRECTOR	TRE		ļ	ļ		
	46 56 84 0		MOVES UP FOR			R OHMS	COMPUTER RADAR ALTIMETER	18.86					
	A	-	MUVES OP FOR IN-			.25 VAC PER		10 KA					1
	Du Soute No		LALASING ALT HATE		SHUTTER COVERS	1000 H, PER MIN.		3 K.A.					
	HELLINS		POINTER CW FUR		OFF INDIGATION	MON FOR INFO VALID							
	Maria and		INCREASING SPEE		BARRIE CE LA NUMA A SURE	PITOT-STATIC							
	INCLEON'S	al sea Mall-a-	CREASING ALTITUDE		RANGE 28 30.0	PITOT-FTATIC							
	PET GOR	27144	FOR INC RATE	MIL-1-27196		PITOT STATIC							
		2. 4	NURLASING HEADING	GIFDE & STORE									
	(0.01 e.C. 14	1. 0.	NUMBERS CH	CIDA I COMP		LEG TO LEG	GY RO					1	
	Sell' MC De		NOTATES CON		MODEL 3825A CONTROLLER	LEG TO LEG	CONTRULLER						
	D ANSUNYAL	+1	HUTATES CCW	BU PER SEC	rt.	"							
	_		COURSE LEFT			DC INTO TR OHNS	NE CEIVER	F K SL					
	D ARNUN AL	-	FOR STATION LEFT	90' PER SEC		SYNCHINO II, PL LEG TO LEG	ADF						
	0 HEJOGORL		OUT OF TOLERANCE LOC SG			OC INTO THE OWNERS	COMPUTER						
	DIARONNAL		COURSE TO STATES			DC INTO 250 1	Volt	1500 to 200.0					
	REPEATER					SYNCHRO	TACAN					l	
	FOLENOID		IN VIEW INDICATES FAILURE			1155 400 MZ GRUEND							
	NULEBORD		DA VIEW FOR EME DIOP			3× P.IX.	TACAN						
	MANEAL	-	ENDIS CW FOR DIC COURT										
TH VALUES	EL	_	INCLEFT			*150 n. ne	ILS LOC.	1010 OWMP		+ 26			
2 UFF ETC	EL		PREDEEFTPON HEINI HATE		REP, Rate Dr 2 our sec.	"1 50 MVDC	ILS LOC	FROM ABOVE		+ 28			
"ON THI	e.	_	EL PTH TO HT		FOINTER BIDTH	AC FROM INI	HPL	10,000 OHMS		+ 28			
	EL		MAX, WID TH FUR MPN, HANGE		ADJ FROM 300 FT	40 MV PER FT	RADAR ALTINETER			SELECT RADAR			
										ALTIMETER			

REVISION: 8 DATE: 15 APRIL 1969

(SHEET 1 of 2)

T-39	PANEL,	DISPLAY	DI
------	--------	---------	----

	PARAMETER	LOCATION OF	TYPE OF DISPLAY	RANGE	SCALE FACTOR	MAJOR	IN TERMEDIATE	MINOR	COLOR	IN DEX	LIGHTING REQ D	BRIGHTNESS	SREAD
30	SHLED ERROR	SPEED ERROR DISPLAY	BAR GRAPH	at to sis.	zet, seu		<u> </u>		H PELS			1	+
40	546ED 18408 847E	SPEED ENROR DISPLAY	- LHATE FIELD		- LINES IN				EL UHERN			1.11	+
4	LANDING SEGUENCE	LANDING SEQUENCE	ELANDUBLIATUR	W TOT D	<u>+</u>	M 500	10 414 44	1	EL UNEEN				+
42				1			1		CE IL CEIN				+
43			1			+						 	+
44	1	1					+			+	_	<u> </u>	+
45	TPM IN IN	ENCINE INST	E THE KM	tel i	$\Pr = \gamma (= h^{i}) \cdot h^{-1}$	EA H	+	r 4	E DRE N	A-		<u> </u>	+
44	66700	ENGINE (No.1	E-L 196 = 5'-		Security Mark	ПА н		A · · ·		0-1		1.10	+
4.7	01 02 1 3 P	E NG NE (NY)	E. INENW	N H	N (2) = 11 (2) N (IIA - N		A		A=- 1		1	+
48				<u> </u>	<u> </u>							THE .	+
49	1				+								+
50	T IN PLAY	LOWER LEFT	A PUSITION SAFTCH		+							·	+
5	- CIT Particip		W LIFED LEGEND				11 1				-0-1478		+
5.2	FLEE GTY	TUEL DISP	E-1 HEAD	- 13	. For PLATE IN	A		A 11	11				+
53	FUELFLOW + K	UELDISP	A COMPANY AND CO	10-1	August -	A	<u> </u>			AP1	×	1.14	
5.4		1									N	100 · E	
-		1					<u> </u>				_		
= n		1			 		<u> </u>			_			
5.7	46.45 7 Mc		L No. Marco								_		
51	TIME TO GO	LU B				6.64			1999-191 X		No. No.		
4.0	TIMEN SET OF	+	104 LE			station and	L		1. C.	Sector .	5.5		
	TIME SET	1	58 °CH	3 PDS Se T H	ļ	BUN DISPLAY			AULI	- S. S.	(all all all all all all all all all all		
	Ga FLAM	La ar							A HILLE	A	110.8		
+2	L v L INEVL er		A SENING	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,					000		N 100		
4.3	PRESSURE 12					1. m. 1. 1.		0.0.0	A	×0000	A 11		
*4	HORNELTOLT	- alli H	5+ B * \$						W # (0)		0.05		I
13													Ι
	PRIMTES COMMAN												
	SELECTFAIL		Dir ANDES ENT EARP								$P_{0} \in \mathcal{P}_{0}[:$		
	TAL ARYON-ILS	OF PANEL	TOGILE SWITCH							La la ND	41.31(* §		T
	E LER ITATION	EDAY REPORT	-B HLL								No. Sec.		T
20		4											T
71	MAR, BAN,	UP FIRMLE	A LIG TED LEVE M							LF (G NE)	1/24/1		
72	HIGH/ALON	DPPt I NIGHT	T (Bridge Scoll) in							LL LE ND	WHITE		
2.9	and to be	GE PANEL	LESEND							LE of ND	WHC18		
7.4													
25		<u>├</u>											
76													1
7.7												ļ	_
15			_								1		+
7.9							1			1	1		<u>+</u>

Γ

ŋ

-

Ø
SPLA	Y DEFIN	IITION	CH	ART		REVISION 8 DATE IS APRIL	1969					(5	HEET 2 of 2)
IGHTNESS	READABILITY	DI ACI WECHANISM	CURAC	Y DIRECTION	SPEED	SPECIFIC INFORMATION	INPUT SIGNAL TYPE	SIGNAL ORIGIN	DISPLAY LOAD	DISPLAY INITIATE SIGNAL	LIMIT			
ez Hu		E L		8.2% # 18 8-839.7% 2 19 4			46 MV KT	0 COMP	Two A	+ 28 VDC				
17 F.L.		+L		P H the H H H	1	START AT THT PER SELON"	FROM ABOVE		FROM ABOVE	+ 28 VDC				
F.L.,		EL		a de la construcción de la const		SAM FRALE CAL	∡es, DISCRET€	1 801	25 MA PER SEG					
L.				6 CAS & -14			PREMITIN 2	bisterasen na ERL 4 TA			104%			
- ' L		Set a M		N - A - N			THERMULUSELE	Bidone A			677 DEG			
11.12		THE H M		N LASH PH S			1, #(ITA10)-4					ļ		
			_											
								E (1964) 117 (201 E (1967) 117 E						
19.4			-	ULUS 4 4		4.5 E	AL VULTAUE	ALCONDER ME	DEC MHR,					
4 * 8.1	200	-		6. 5. 5.		A. A.	AJA - S HAL		AT MILTIZES					
	_													
			_											
			_											
		N.9-		N HEAS NO K	25 - 66 H 21		Ar ar	EUL VALUE +						
		N 10-10-		N - 5 - 4	St PHIST		Pulstern Stulike	the A MA			ļ			
		S. 1. 3. 5			HANGE FEE			DMF F			 			
		101				President Trav	- > •	SWITH H	A 5/2 B					
		A		M		an the there and the set of the set of	A	TR USED OF ER			 			
		W10101				T H RN RE AV ARE .	MANEA	MANE AL						
	-		+		÷							 		
	+	┝───┥							1		+			
	+	┥──┤					 + i vPC 				<u>↓</u>			
	+			A F DE DM		N. B. INDING	MAN	MANUA						
				ET B-HINENE	<u> </u>	1141			ł					
	+								+		+	<u>+</u>		
	-							<u> </u>			+			
	1		- +		1				1		1	1		
	1	i i			1			1	t		1			
					1									
								<u> </u>			+			
	1				1			t	t		+	t		

-12

.

DISPLAY PARAMETERS CHART FIGURE 12 (2 of 2)

and would, therefore, make an error in the total system. Simmonds was contacted and stated than an AC voltage existed within their instruments that could be utilized to drive the EL displays. This was utilized in the T-39 installation since round dial engine instruments are required on the center panel for flight safety and back-up displays.

SECTION IV

INSTRUMENT DESIGN

The various instruments on the T-39 EL panel were defined by the display parameters chart. These were divided into three major instrument groups during the design and build phase with product responsibility assigned accordingly. These three groups were:

- Flight Instruments
- Engine Instruments
- Landing Instruments

FLIGHT INSTRUMENTS

The flight instrument group consists of the attitude director indicator, the horizontal situation indicator, the altitude vertical velocity indicator, the altimeter, the vertical velocity indicator, and the airspeed indicator. All of these displays utilize electroluminescent lighting for display illumination. All except the altitude vertical velocity indicator are light reflecting or flood lighted displays. The altitude vertical indicator is a transilluminated or back lighted display. These displays are of primary importance to the pilot since they furnish him with the basic information that he needs to fly the aircraft. The following paragraphs define in detail the mechanism used to accomplish each of the displays:

Attitude Director Indicator (Model 4058Y)

This unit provides basic pitch and roll information presented on a moving sphere. Precise pitch markings in the sphere, color, and the precision bank indices were developed on the pilot's factors study program. The indicator also includes a display of flight path angle. This moving tape display is located on the left side of the attitude indicator and ranges between zero and \pm 30 degrees flight path angle. The parameter is used during the descent in an ILS approach to extend the glideslope sensitivity. A normal flight path angle is established during the ILS approach on glideslope. When the glideslope signal becomes erratic, this normal flight path is flown to the flare point, thus extending the glideslope beam. The horizontal and vertical flight director pointers are also located on the attitude director indicator. These pointers provide command information for the pilot during various flight director modes.

Raw data glideslope information is provided by the orange pointer on the left next to the flight path angle tape.

The two remaining displays on the attitude indicator are the turn rate display and the inclinometer tube forming a turn and bank indicator located at the bottom of the indicator.

Various warning flags are associated with the ADI. There is the "off" flag which annunciates that either power is off to the attitude indicator or a faulty gyro signal is being received. The flag at the top of the display provides assurance that the proper information is being presented on the vertical flight director. The glideslope flag at the left beside the glideslope pointer provides assurance that the proper information is being displayed on the glideslope pointer.

The ADI utilizes direct drive DC servo mechanisms to drive the pitch and roll displays. The Model 4058Y is shown in the photograph in Figure 13. The DC torquer and an associated synchro follow-up is coupled directly to the roll axis of the indicator. There are no associated gears nor idler stages. A similar mechanism is employed inside the attitude sphere to provide the basic pitch mechanization. A photograph of the pitch torquer synchro package is shown in Figure 14. A block diagram schematic of the attitude director indicator showing all its various functions is given in Figure 15.



MODEL 4058Y ADI MECHANISM FIGURE 13



MODEL 4058Y ADI PITCH AXIS FIGURE 14

D'Arsonval meter mechanisms provide the displays of flight director commands, glideslope deviation, and turn rate.

A compromise was made to the gearless approach with the flight path angle display. This was originally intended to be a completely gearless display, but it was found that making this display gearless would increase the length of the indicator significantly; therefore, a path angle mechanization was chosen which reduced the number of gears over that which would have been required for a similar AC mechanization but did not eliminate gears altogether. The path angle tape unit provides satisfactory response under all ambients and still has advantages of reduced heat and power consumption.

The small number of gear passes will not contribute significantly to the reliability factor of the overall unit. A picture of the flight path angle drive mechanism is shown in Figure 16. This mechanism is a module and can be detached from the overall attitude indicator for repair and/or replacement as necessary.

Figure 17 shows the ADI lighting subassembly. Electroluminescent lamps, mounted at the top and the sides of the indicator wedge, pump



[]



light throughout the wedge. The wedge shape is varied so that more light is directed down toward the bottom of the displays and is reflected up under the bottom of the attitude director indicator sphere. This area is most difficult to light and is the one in which most designers apply additional lamps inside the sphere or beneath the roll scale markings to direct light up onto the sphere.

The installation data dimensions for the Model 4058Y attitude director indicator are given in Figure 18. Figure 19 gives the indicator connector pin assignments. These are the same pins as are utilized in the Model 4058E presently in use in the pilot's factors study. With the exception of the electroluminescent lighting lamp excitation, these have been placed on spare pins in the Model 4058E so that the two units can be utilized interchangeably if desired.

The amplifier schematic block diagram for the Model 4058Y is shown in Figure 20. This amplifier drives the three functions of pitch, roll, and flight path angle and supplies the power necessary for the basic instrument. A peak sampling method of error detection with subsequent error amplification is utilized in the Model 4058Y. Derived rate feedback furnishes information to stabilize the DC servo mechanisms under all operating conditions. This circuit is very similar to the one utilized in the Model 4076K horizontal situation indicator.

Horizontal Situation Indicator (Model 4076K)

This display provides the pilot with azimuth information, selected heading, selected course deviation, ADF bearing, and distance to Tacan stations. This basic information is supplemented with the warning flags associated with course deviation and the directional gyro as well as DME warnings and to-from flags on the course card for Tacan operation. Knobs located at the bottom of the display provide course set features and heading set features. The display is that of a conventional Air Force AQU-4 horizontal situation indicator. As such, it provided little or no problems in integrating into the T-39 panel since the AQU-4 is standard in the T-39.

Electroluminescent lamps are utilized to illuminate the HSI. The display is wedge lighted in the same manner as the attitude director indicator discussed earlier. EL lamps are placed along the top periphery of the display wedge and provide lighting throughout the front of the instrument. A typical HSI EL lighting wedge is shown with the lamps installed in Figure 21.

This display also utilizes the DC servos as the drive element for all servo displays. Figure 22 shows the mechanism of the horizontal situation indicator. A semi-gearless approach is used to mechanize



.



MODEL 4058Y ADI INPUTS FIGURE 19





this display. This resulted in a reduced number of gears from that required by the AQU-4 AC servo unit. Table III compares the number of gears in each type of mechanization. This reduced gear number construction retains most of the benefits of DC torquer drive with the course and heading set select functions on the front of the instrument. These require differentials, and it is impossible to retain a completely gearless construction and still have the course and heading set functions on the front of the HSI.

A block diagram schematic of the Model 4076K horizontal situation indicator is shown in Figure 23. The unit includes internal amplifiers very similar in construction to those used on the attitude director indicator discussed earlier. The peak sampling method of error determination is utilized for signal feedback. The servo displays in the horizontal situation indicator are azimuth, course, heading, and ADF bearing. The Model 4076K is shorter by 2.5 inches than its AQU-4 conventional counterpart; this is shown in the installation data drawing in Figure 24. The pin assignment chart for the HSI is shown in Figure 25.

The display definition chart in Figure 11, gives the pertinent display details of both the attitude director indicator and the horizontal situation indicator.

Altitude/Vertical Velocity Indicator

This display (shown in Figure 26) provides the pilot with instantaneous vertical velocity during all modes of operation and with radar altitude information during the landing portion of the mission. Altitude/vertical velocity is displayed from 0 to \pm 20,000 fpm by the moving pointer with a " \triangleright " shaped marker on the left side of the unit. The pointer moves from 0 to + 2,000 or -3,000 ft. per minute. At these two points it will lock into position, and the number tape in the window immediately to the right of the pointer will begin to move and will move for the remainder of the vertical velocity scale. The altitude portion of the display is located on the right of the display. It is the white moving tape column. At 1,000 ft. radar altitude it moves all the way into view, exposing a white column extending from the center of the lubber line to a point near the lower edge of the right side of the window. As altitude decreases towards zero, this display moves nonlinearly until at 50 feet radar altitude when the white-black intersection is adjacent to the number 1 on the vertical velocity scale. At 25 feet altitude, the column is adjacent to the number 0.5 on the vertical velocity scale. Thus this display provides not quantitative radar altitude information but rather qualitative indications consisting mostly of altitude rate to the ground. This display is used primarily during the landing mission.

TABLE III COMPARISON OF HSI PARAMETERS

I

Ι

I

I

I

11

Parameter	AQU-4	<u>4076K</u>
Case Size	4-1/4 x 5 x 9	4-1/4 x 5 x 6-1/2
Hdg. Set	Knob	Knob
Course Set	Knob	Knob
Amp-Power Supply	Internal	Internal
Type Mech.	AC Servo	DC Servo
Type Const.	≈ 90 Gears	≈ 40 Gears
Power Comsumption	55 VA	10 VA
Lighting	White/Red	White EL
Compass Card	3.125 Dia.	3.0 Dia.
Command Hdg.	Manual or Servo	Manual or Servo
Command Course	Manual or Servo	Manual or Servo
Course Dev.	Yes	Yes
Dev. Fail	Yes	Yes
To-From	Yes	Yes
Bearing Pointers	Yes	Yes
Power Failure Flag	Yes	Yes

I

I

1

I

I







.

MODEL 4076K HSI INPUTS FIGURE 25

and the second second



T

MODEL 7725E ALTITUDE/VERTICAL VELOCITY INDICATOR FIGURE 26

This unit is transilluminated by electroluminescent lamps located behind the display scale. These lamps transmit light up through the display scale, where it renders the scale visible under night operating conditions. The light is also piped out through the plastic scale to both the lighted \triangleright shaped marker and the radar altitude column.

A block diagram schematic of the Model 7725E Altitude/Vertical Velocity Indicator is shown in Figure 27.

This unit includes follow-up amplifiers mounted within the indicator proper. It is unique because of its narrowness (one inch) and because of the locking feature of the vertical velocity pointer as it moves up and locks into position beside the vertical velocity tape window.



.

l

I

T

Į

-

Ι

I



The AVVI subassemblies are shown in Figure 28. This unit is similar in size and construction to other Model 7725 Altitude Vertical Velocity Indicators provided by LSI for use on the PIFAX program. As indicated in the pin allocation chart shown in Figure 29, it is not wired interchangeable with these units. Provisions were made on this unit so that the warning flag could be operated by external inputs and thus provide additional warning capability for the display. Other areas of difference were in the pin assignments allotted to the electroluminescent lamp excitation. It is not, therefore, recommended that these units be used interchangeably with other units provided to the Air Force for use on the PIFAX program.

Air Data Displays

Other units in the flight instrument group are the altimeter, the airspeed indicator, and the vertical velocity indicator. These are round dial instruments and have been purchased from standard aircraft Air Force suppliers and modified to include the electroluminescent wedge lighting. These displays are pitot-static driven and operate from conventional aircraft inputs. The electroluminescent light wedge replaces a lighting wedge that did provide red illumination to the displays. This wedge is very similar in construction to the wedges utilized on the horizontal situation indicator and the attitude director indicator. Lamps are mounted at the top and upper corners of the wedge in these displays to provide uniformity while lighting over the display surface. A typical instrument lighting wedge for the round dial assemblies is shown in Figure 30. Installation data drawings for each of the round dial instruments are shown in Figure 31, 32, and 33 of this report.

The schematics showing pin allocations for these units are shown in Figure 34, 35, and 36.

Lighted panels include the passenger oxygen panel, the radio call panel, and the course select panel. A typical lighted panel is shown in Figure 37.

These panels utilize discrete electroluminescent lamps similar to those used on the attitude indicator and horizontal situation indicator for display illumination. As such, these lamps are mounted behind the areas to be lighted and transmit light up through the plastic for display illumination. Illumination of these displays is difficult since light is not piped readily through the plastic. A better method of constructing these displays would have been to utilize a large EL lamp mounted directly behind the overall panel, which would supply uniform lighting to all letters, legends, and nomenclature. If desired, switches could then be outlined and legends associated with the switch could have their own individual lamps -- which would provide light for that legend.



MODEL 7725E AVVI SUBASSEMBLIES FIGURE 28



ŀ





1

EL LIGHTING ASSEMBLY FOR THE INDICATED AIRSPEED, ALTITUDE AND VERTICAL VELOCITY INDICATORS FIGURE 30



I

I

1





ALTIMETER INSTALLATION DATA FIGURE 31



INDICATED AIRSPEED INSTALLATION DATA FIGURE 33



I

Ι

Ι

I

I

I



SCHEMATIC

ALTITUDE INDICATOR SCHEMATIC FIGURE 34





VERTICAL VELOCITY INDICATOR SCHEMATIC FIGURE 35





INDICATED AIRSPEED INDICATOR SCHEMATIC FIGURE 36



TYPICAL LIGHTED PANEL FIGURE 37

1

ENGINE INSTRUMENT SUBSYSTEM

Display Description

The engine displays for the T-39 consist of five vertical scale EL bar graphs. These displays are:

Thrust (ETP) Exhaust Gas Temperature (EGT) Engine RPM (RPM) Fuel Flow Fuel Quantity

They are shown in Figure 38. There are two basic display formats - - a four-inch display, and a six-inch display. Each unit contains a display for two engines. This display shares a single set of display markings or legends. The moving column bar graph is the dynamic element in each display and is identified by the numeral 1 and 2 beneath

1 . I 00000 0/020 I 90 - 70 -Π - 50 -[] - 30 -- 20 - 10 - 0 . 6 [] F FLOW 4 40-[] [] Π EL ENGINE DISPLAY FIGURE 38 [] I 1 53

the left and right column respectively. The displays are identical except for scale length. The display lamps are characterized by changing a back lighted legend panel located at the top of each lamp.

Each lamp assembly is interchangeable with another lamp assembly of the same length. Figure 39 illustrates the construction of this "plug in" interchangeable lamp. The lamp subassembly is hermetically sealed for maximum display life. This was accomplished by designing a metal back-plate with glass to metal sealed feedthrough terminals for each separate display circuit. The printed wiring board inside the lamp subassembly provides the circuit path between these feedthroughs and the conductive rubber snails that are in contact with the lamp substrate. A snail locater board spaces the lamp substrate and circuit board and locates the snails with respect to each. This group of components -- substrate, snails, locater board, and printed wiring board -are soldered into the metal case providing the required glass to metal hermetic seal.

The entire lamp assembly mates to the electronics module with two screws. Electrical contact between the lamp and the electronics module is made through the compressible conductive rubber snails located in the front of the electronics module.

An area electrode behind the legend of each display causes a rectangular area to be illuminated. The "display legend" film which is held in place by the polarizing bezel can be changed to identify each display.

Splitting the rear electrode for the fixed scale information allows LSI to turn "on" only that portion of the scale utilized by that specific display, e.g., the full scale (0-110) is lighted for the RPM display whereas only part (0-84) is lighted for the ETP display. The amount of scale to be illuminated is determined in the electronics module.

The display electronics of the four-inch and six-inch displays are identical except for the larger number of display driver modules required in the six-inch unit to accommodate the additional display length.

The electronics modules for all engine displays are similar except that the primary aircraft display modules have been built utilizing only those display drive modules necessary for the associated display. A spare electronics module containing the maximum number of display drivers is provided and is interchangeable in any of the six-inch display stations. A similar spare module is provided for the four-inch stations.



Two of these engine displays (EGT and RPM) illustrate the use of the limit cue line mechanization. The red line limit for the parameter is annunciated by a lighted segment at the critical RPM (104%) or temperature (670°C). When the engine condition exceeds the limit line, the whole lighted portion of that bar graph blinks, annunciating an "over speed" or "over temperature" condition in that engine. The lighted segment changes to unlighted as the parameter moves beyond the limit line. This allows the limit line to be denoted even though it has been exceeded.

A slight wiring change is necessary in the spare display electronics module to characterize the limit line output of the spare module to either EGT or RPM.

Pressure (ETP) Display

The number of segments lighted on this segmented bar graph is proportional to the displacement of the exhaust total pressure synchro transducer. The scale factor is one inch of mercury pressure change per EL segment. Full scale range of this display is 85 inches of mercury. The indicator contains the ETP scale for each engine.

EGT

This display operates from the thermocouple input of exhaust gas temperature. The readouts are EL bar graphs which are proportional in length to the change in DC voltage from the thermocouple. The scale is linear with a scale factor of 10° C per segment. The full scale range of EGT is 1000° C. This indicator contains the EGT scales for each engine.

RPM Display

The input transducer for this display is a tachometer which provides a variable frequency proportional to percent RPM. The readouts for the display are EL bar graphs with a scale factor of one percent RPM per segment. The full scale range is 110 percent RPM. Two scales are contained in the one indicator.

Fuel Flow Display

This display operates from a synchro transducer and indicates rate of fuel flow. The readouts are also EL bar graphs proportional to the displacement of the synchro. The scale factor is 100 lbs per segment with a full scale range of 5000 pounds per hour. A single display provides readouts for both engines.

Fuel Quantity Display

This display operates from the rebalance potentiometers of the round dial instruments. The readouts are EL bar graphs which follow the round dial instruments. The scale is linear with a scale factor of 100 lbs per segment. Full scale range of the display is 4000 lbs.

This display operates in conjunction with the fuel quantity switch located to its left on the panel. When the switch is in the TOTAL position, each display shows the amount of fuel in the corresponding wing tanks, plus one-half the fuel in the auxiliary tank. When the switch is in the LH IND-AUX, RH IND-R WING, the indicators display the quantity of fuel remaining in the described tanks.

Display Decoding

The conversion of a binary-coded signal to an analog bar graph display is shown by Figure 40.

The binary-coded signal is split into two subwords to reduce the number of gates required for the decoding. A three-bit decoder decodes the first three bits into eight lines. This information is further changed to a bar graph configuration.

A four-bit decoder decodes the remaining four bits. These are decoded into a 16-line output plus a 16-element bar graph configuration.

The outputs from the three-bit decoding and the two systems of four-bit decoding are then combined to form the logic necessary for the final switching of the EL segments. This combining is done with DTL logic gates.

The final switching of the EL segments is accomplished using silicon controlled rectifiers (SCR) as the bilateral switch. These SCR's are easily controlled by the low level DC voltage from the DTL logic.

Electroluminescent Lamp Selection

One of the original goals of the program was to provide solid-state displays which would present clear and unambiguous flight control information under all ambient lighting conditions. The emphasis for the engine instrument system was, therefore, to make as bright a lamp as possible to meet the high ambient viewing conditions.



.

Preliminary thought was given to using a scan selection technique to switch the EL lamp. Some tests of brightness vs. duty cycle were taken and it was found that the brightness would not be sufficient to meet the brightness requirements that were established by the flight tests.

It was, therefore, concluded that an 800-cycle excitation voltage would be used to meet the brightness requirements. It was also determined that a constant brightness technique would be used, in which the voltage would start out at a value which is required to obtain 17 foot lamberts which is the required brightness determined by flight test. As aging of the lamps took place an increase in the exciting voltage would be allowed until the rated voltage minus a safety factor for the SCR's was reached. At this point in time the lamps would be replaced.

Results of life testing were shown by Figure 9. Tests were run at both 400 Hz and 800 Hz. It can be seen that the expected life for the engine lamps is 1000 hours when operated at their maximum brightness at 800 Hz at room temperature. Under actual operating conditions, the situation will be quite different. Since many of the flight tests will be run to evaluate low ambient situations, the life could be expected to be much longer than the 1000 hours. On the other hand, the ambient temperature will be higher in some instances than the +25 °C under which the lab tests were run. It is anticipated that the two conditions will cancel so that the expected life will be 1000 hours.

Conversion Techniques

It was originally planned to use a multiplex technique when converting the analog inputs to the digital outputs required for the EL displays. This approach was investigated but flight safety considerations dictated that individual parallel channel conversion techniques would be necessary. Therefore, a modification of the multiplex technique was utilized. Identical A-to-D converters were used, preceded by buffers to condition the input signal. An exception to this was the synchro conversions. The cost of the synchro-to-DC conversions was prohibitive on this program, hence it was decided to use a mechanical conversion for synchro to digital. All conversions for the engine instruments are accomplished in the Model 6360A converter shown in Figure 41. This unit size is 9" x 12" x 22".

The method of conversion for the individual channels is discussed in detail in the following sections.



ENGINE INSTRUMENT SYSTEM CONVERTER FIGURE 41

ETP Conversion

As was previously indicated, a mechanical conversion was selected to perform the analog-to-digital conversion. An "integrated" servo package called a Torqusyn and produced by the Vernitron Corporation was purchased for this conversion. This package contains a high efficiency DC torquer directly coupled to a synchro control transformer. Included in the package are all of the necessary electronics for driving the DC torquer. To complete the conversion to digital, a shaft angle encoder is geared to the Torqusyn. A single turn, self select type encoder is used and has output lines compatible with diode-transistor logic (DTL).

Fuel Flow Conversion

This conversion was obtained using a device similar to that used for EPT. The only difference is in the gearing to shaft angle encoder, to allow differences in scale factor requirements.

EGT Display

Conversion for the EGT Display requires converting the DC voltage from the thermocouple to a binary coded digital equivalent. This is shown by Figure 42.

Special chromel alumel input wires are brought into the converter and go directly to a solid state cold junction compensator which tracks the temperature changes of the cold junction.

The output from the compensator then goes to the chopper-stabilized buffer amplifier. This special low drift amplifier raises the low level voltage to a voltage which is compatible with the analog-to-digital converter.

The A-to-D converter converts the DC voltage to a binary coded digital signal. Operation of the A-to-D converter is discussed in Paragraph 4.3.6.

RPM Display

Conversion for the RPM Display requires changing the variable frequency from the tachometer to a binary coded digital output. A block diagram of this conversion is shown by Figure 43.

The output from the tachometer is fed into a frequency-to-voltage converter. This converter uses a saturated core technique to provide a DC voltage which is proportional to the frequency of the input but yet is not affected by the changing amplitude of the input signal.

The DC voltage from the frequency converter is fed into a buffer amplifier which provides the proper impedance and voltage magnitude to interface with the A-to-D converter.

The output from the buffer is fed into a push-to-test relay. Under normal conditions the signal goes directly to the A-to-D converter while under test conditions a test signal provides the input for the A-to-D converter.

The A-to-D converter converts the DC voltage to a binary coded digital signal. This converter is discussed in detail in a later section.

Fuel Quantity Display

The input signal for the fuel quantity display is an AC signal from the round dial fuel quantity indicator. This signal is fed into a rectifier which converts the signal to a DC voltage which is fed through a buffer




amplifier into the analog-to-digital converter. The A-to-D converts the DC voltage to the binary coded number necessary to drive the EL display. (This conversion is shown in Figure 44.)

Since the input signal is a function of the AC line excitation, it is necessary to track this line value for accuracy considerations. In this application, tracking is accomplished by rectifying the AC line and using this voltage to supply the comparator reference for the A-to-D converter. As the digital output is proportional to this voltage, the desired tracking is accomplished.

Analog-to-Digital Conversion System

The analog-to-digital converter uses a basic successive approximation method of conversion to convert the analog voltage. The basic system is shown by the block diagram in Figure 45.

The analog voltage input signal is compared to the output of the analogto-digital converter. If an error signal exists, it is detected and amplified by the comparator whose output drives the control logic. The control logic switches the analog-to-digital converter which reduces the error by the most significant bit. The cycle is repeated until the error is less than the system resolution. Each approximation requires one bit time.

The parallel output is obtained by using field effect transistor buffers and diode transistor logic. This output feeds directly into the display conversion logic which was described earlier.

Power Supply

The power supply for the engine instrument system is shown by Figure 46. A listing of the required supplies and their current ratings is listed below:

Analog-to-Digital Conversion

Required	Voltage	Current	Description			
1	+ 5 VDC	510 ma	Used for the DTL logic.			
2	+20 VDC	85 ma	Isolated supply for the RPM tach conversion.			
1	+15 VDC	17 ma	Used for the operational amplifier.			
1	-15 VDC	145 ma	Used for the operational amplifier.			

1	-27 VDC	36 ma	Used for the MOS switches.
1	-5.5 VDC	8 ma	Used as a reference voltage for the SC-100 converter.

Display Conversion

No. Required	Voltage	Current	Description
1	5 VDC	4A	Used for the DTL logic.
1	28 VDC		

I

I

I

I

A

[]

[]

[]

[]

[

[]

[]

1

1

Lamp Excitation

No. Required	Voltage	Current	Description				
1	800 Hz	250V rms max.	Used for light emitting displays.				







LANDING INSTRUMENT SUBSYSTEM

General

The Landing Instrument Subsystem consists of a landing sequence indicator (LSI Model 8703D), a speed error indicator (LSI Model 2717C), a runway displacement indicator (LSI Model 2716C), and a converter (LSI Model 8360H). A power module and a test box are also provided.

All units of the subsystem are completely solid state; the indicators are mechanized utilizing the latest techniques in electroluminescence.

The subsystem provides landing information to the pilot in formats which utilize certain of the unique advantages of electroluminescence (EL).

The three indicators are grouped around the attitude director indicator and overlap the bezel to minimize pilot scan area during approach and landing. (See Figure 48.)



LANDING INSTRUMENT SUBSYSTEM FIGURE 47



LANDING INDICATORS GROUPING FIGURE 48

T

Π

Display Philosophy

The program objective was to develop an experimental display panel capable of presenting clear and unambiguous flight control information under all lighting conditions through the use of advanced solid state and electromechanical display techniques.

This objective was applied to the landing displays utilizing several novel presentations of flight control information.

Landing Sequence Indicator (Model 8703D)

1

The landing sequence indicator, shown in Figure 49, provides annunciator type information of aircraft progress during approach and landing. Information sequentially moves from right to left. The amber flashing dot at the far right advises the pilot that additional information has been added to the display. Information displayed includes:

a. Checkpoints

OM (Outer Marker) MM (Middle Marker) 100 (100 ft. altitude) 50 (50 ft. altitude) //////// (touchdown)

b. Autopilot Gain Status

Initial Final 100



LANDING SEQUENCE INDICATOR FIGURE 49 c. Action Command

Flare Go Around

All legends are green except the flashing dot and "GO AROUND" which are amber.

The landing sequence indicator utilizes LSI high-contrast electroluminescence to insure readability and minimize panel clutter in the off state.

Speed Error Indicator (Model 2717C)

The speed error indicator provides under and overspeed information to the pilot as an aid in controlling a preset nominal approach speed.





On Speed

Under Speed

SPEED ERROR INDICATOR FIGURE 50 The display presents a green rectangular bar to indicate an "on speed" condition. If the aircraft deviates ± 2 knots from the nominal speed, the green bar is extinguished and amber pointers appear. The pointers indicate the direction of speed correction necessary and amount necessary by a scaling of two knots per pointer. A total of five pointers in available in either direction (underspeed or overspeed).

To the immediate left of this speed error scale is a presentation of speed error rate. This rate is displayed as a series of equally spaced moving bars. Their rate of movement up or down provides an indication of the rate of speed change. This vernier of speed error rate should enable the pilot to maintain a tighter control loop around approach speed. Its rate is adjustable in the control electronics.

The entire display has been designed as peripheral data for use when the pilot's center of attention is focused on precise control of the flight director in the ADI; a rather bold simple presentation without numerals or legends utilizing color and motion was adopted.

The speed error indicator uses high contrast and polarizing light control techniques.

Runway Displacement Indicator (Model 2716C)

The runway displacement indicator presents a simulated runway, lateral rate analog, and heading error. The installation data on this unit is given in Figure 51.

The simulated runway, shown in several conditions in Figure 52, provides information concerning aircraft alignment with the runway as indicated by the localizer. The lighted portion represents only the center half (75 ft.) of the runway width and is considered as an acceptable gate for lateral alignment. A blanked segment representing the runway centerline is provided to assist alignment control. The center of the display is located on the vertical centerline of the conventional T scan for flight control information.

The runway display simulates a real world approach by causing the runway to expand in width as distance to touchdown decreases. This expansion is variable in the control electronics to allow pilot reaction evaluation. Excessive lateral deviation is indicated by illumination of off scale pointers.

Display format analysis centered around evaluation of runway expansion. Figure 53 shows apparent runway width vs range to touchdown. The apparent runway width is at a viewing distance of 24 inches. This



•





APPARENT RUNWAY WIDTH VS. RANGE TO TOUCHDOWN FIGURE 53 []

[]

Į

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

l

I

I

I

I

*

analysis shows the function to be nonlinear as experience would expect. It is observed that the function W_i changes quite rapidly after the middle marker (MM). Analysis of the PINS simulated runway display has pointed up the desirability of an off-segment centerline and the need for good quickening in the rate field.

To assist the pilot in maintaining a tight control loop around lateral displacement, a segmented rate field is provided below the simulated runway. Its operation indicates lateral motion as a vernier of the runway lateral movement. Its rate is adjustable in the control electronics.

Both the runway and its associated vernier rate field are green.

Heading error is presented directly above the runway as an amber moving pointer. The angle displayed is the angle between aircraft heading and the heading set on the horizontal situation indicator. If runway heading is set on the HSI, the heading error will present aircraft crab angle.

Scaling is such that it presents an extension of the HSI compass card angular change. Placing this parameter near the ADI provides peripheral data of crab angle during the landing and decrab maneuvers. The decrab pointer is amber to emphasize the decrab requirement prior to touchdown.

The face of the runway displacement indicator is tilted 60 degrees from vertical. This eliminates specular reflections from the cockpit and increases the effective display area by a factor of two.

High contrast and polarizing techniques are also used to control readability.

Figure 54 shows the indicator with the top access plate removed.

Mechanization Philosophy

The Landing Instrument Subsystem has been mechanized utilizing complete solid-state control circuitry and display media.

All input signal processing, data conversion, timing, logic, and control requirements are performed within the remote converter (Model 8360H). All control signals are converted to an optimum digital format and transmitted to the indicators along with necessary power for high voltage switching. The actual high voltage is controlled within each indicator. This insures a minimum EMI problem and makes maintenance and modification easient.



RUNWAY DISPLACEMENT INDICATOR WITH UPPER ACCESS PLATE REMOVED FIGURE 54

The indicator drive electronics consists mainly of high voltage silicon controlled rectifiers (SCR) and steering diodes. No potted modules are used and each discrete component is individually replaceable. This philosophy is in contrast to that utilized on the engine instruments and is purposely done to allow evaluation of each concept under real world flight line conditions.

The Landing Instrument Converter, Model 8360H, contains eighteen $4-1/2 \ge 5$ inch plug-in circuit boards. (See Figure 55.)

Operations within the converter are functionally divided and accomplished on a board-by-board basis. (See Figure 56.)

Each board is removable and can be serviced easily by using the incorporated card extender.

All variable parameters are adjustable via potentiometers located at the upper end of the associated circuit board.

Four connectors provide electrical access to and from the converter:

- J1 Connection to the runway displacement indicator
- J2 Connection to the landing sequence indicator and speed error indicator



CONVERTER WITH CARD EXTENDED FIGURE 55

J3 - Connection to aircraft signal and power or test unit

J26 - Connection (input to and output from) to power module.

The converter is a short three-quarter ATR (7.500'' W x 7.625 x 12.563) including dust cover.

The solid-state components used are widely accepted and well suited to the requirements. Commonly used semiconductors include:

MC1530 and MC1531 operational amplifier MC848 DTL flip flop MC832 DTL gate 2N2222 npn switching transistor 2N3977 pnp chopper transistor C3DX20 silicon controlled rectifier 1N4154 logic diode

The converter utilizes a 200 kHz basic clock crystal oscillator as a reference for internal digital conversions and signal processing. Although the Landing Instrument Subsystem receives several analog inputs, they are eventually converted to digital and the system can be considered to be basically digital.



•

80

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

I

ł

I

I

I

I

I

I

The digital format is described as:

Basic clock frequency 200 kHz

Logic Levels:

Logical	"1"	5	VDC	±	0.	5	VDC
Logical	"0"	0	VDC	+	0.	5	VDC

The system can sustain power interruption without loss of memory or synchronism.

Functional Operation

The development of the Landing Instrument Subsystem utilizing electroluminescence (EL) as a direct reading display device was guided by the combined experience of the Air Force Flight Dynamics Laboratory and the Instrument Division of Lear Siegler, Inc.

Special concern was given to minimizing the known disadvantages of EL and exploiting its unique advantages.

The primary disadvantage considered was the brightness-life-temperature characteristic. An excitation frequency of 800 kHz was chosen for each parameter except the simulated runway. Better lamp life should be achieved by utilizing a constant brightness-variable voltage philosophy.

The unique physical arrangement of the overlapped instrument bezels combined with cooler running DC-servoed ADI and HSI should place the EL lamps in a lower thermal environment.

Because the landing instruments are utilized during a small portion of the total flight profile, inhibiting lamp operation during the irrelevant portions of flight will greatly extend lamp calendar life.

To exploit some of the advantages of EL, the landing displays were conceived as peripheral displays providing information as near to the center of the ADI as practical. Because of the flexible format possible with EL, it was possible to lap the ADI bezel. This is a panel area which was previously lost to displaying data even though it was prime "real estate".

The simplicity of mechanizing an EL rate field lead to the use of two (speed error rate and lateral rate) in the system. Because EL is one of the few true area light sources, it serves as an excellent media for annunciator type data. Therefore, a landing scquence display was incorporated to good advantage.

The simulated runway allows a good demonstration of the unique advantages of EL. It would be impossible to duplicate this function in the space allotted employing electromechanical or even cathode ray tube techniques.

Other known advantages of EL utilized in the system are spectral uniformity, and reduction in size, weight, and power requirements.

The three indicators present six basic display parameters. The functional operation of each parameter from signal source to display element is discussed in the following paragraphs:

Į

Ţ

Landing Sequence (See Figure 57.)

The Landing Sequence parameters are:

Flasher Outer Marker Middle Marker 100 feet altitude 50 feet altitude Flare Touchdown Initial (Autopilot) Final (Autopilot) 100 feet (Autopilot) Go Around



LANDING SEQUENCE FLOW DIAGRAM FIGURE 57

Each parameter receives a 28 VDC discrete signal from either the autopilot or the flight director mode selector. The signal is buffered to compatible logic and is transmitted to the indicator. The indicator receives the logic signal and switches the appropriate EL segment.

The indicator utilizes a common gate cathode-driven SCR configuration. Signal buffering is done in the converter on circuit board No. 120 (shown in Figure 56).

A special interlock circuit on board No. 110B insures that the touchdown display portion (cross hatched lines) of the lamp will not be energized continuously during irrelevant periods such as powered maintenance or testing. This is accomplished by requiring a flare command to precede the touchdown signal to validate it.

Speed Error (See Figure 58.)

2

I

Ì

The input signal for speed error is a bipolar DC voltage with a scale factor of 100 millivolts per knot. The signal is generated as angle of attack error but can be considered as speed error during approach and landing. The signal is received and processed on boards No. 115 and No. 119. The input signal is modulated for isolation, filtered, and demodulated. It is then split in two branches. One branch is sensed for polarity and the other is made single polarity via the absolute value circuit. The absolute DC value is then sensed for magnitude by five discrete level detectors. Each detector provides a logic level output to the indicator equivalent to two knots of speed error. A potentiometer is provided on board No. 115 to vary this scale factor. The polarity detector provides an overspeed/underspeed signal to the indicator.





If the speed error signal magnitude is not large enough to trip the least significant detector, its inverted output is sent to the indicator as a logic level indicating an "on speed" condition.

The indicator includes logic to sample the forementioned inputs and switch the appropriate SCR drivers to illuminate the desired EL segments.

Speed Error Rate (See Figure 59.)

Speed error rate is a derived function which uses the demodulated, filtered, isolated speed error signal as its source.

The signal processing is done on circuit boards No. 117 and No. 118.

The DC speed error signal is first differentiated to provide a DC value of rate. The rate signal is then split with one branch sensed for polarity and the other made singular polarity.

The scaling of this section is adjustable via the potentiometer on board No. 115. The DC rate magnitude signal is next converted to a pulse train with frequency a function of DC input. This pulse train is accumulated in a three-stage up/down counter. The counter direction is controlled by the polarity sensing circuit. As an input rate signal is processed, the counter accumulates zero through seven and continues to count over. This binary count is decoded to a decimal one out of eight format. The eight lines are sent to the indicator as input discrete signals.



SPEED ERROR RATE FLOW DIAGRAM FIGURE 59

Inside the indicator each input signal line controls one SCR high voltage driver. Each driver is connected to every eighth EL segment in the rate field. Only one SCR with its associated EL segments is energized at a given time. As the SCR's are sequenced, the EL rate field appears to be moving thereby achieving the desired display.

Simulated Runway

The simulated runway offered the most difficult problems of display generation. It also offered the most promising opportunity to demonstrate the capabilities of electroluminescence in solving unique display problems.

Initial design investigation showed that conventional signal control and matrix selection schemes were not well suited to solving this requirement. The use of diode selection matrix would have resulted in an impractical amount of electronic complexity.

Concurrently, LSI was developing a technique of EL display generation utilizing a scanning technique. This basic scanning technique enables use of an analog input signal to generate a variety of display formats on an electroluminescent segmented array.

Basically, this technique sequentially pulses the segments in an EL array with high voltage excitation. By performing this scan cycle continuously, each EL segment will appear to emit a steady light. The fundamental scanning relationship is given by:

Scan Period = Pulse width x number of segments.

The integrated light output will be a function of several parameters including:

Waveshape de

Pulse width

Voltage

Pulse repetition rate

Typical values are shown in Figure 60.



TYPICAL PULSE WIDTH/BRIGHTNESS CURVE FIGURE 60

It is, furthermore, possible to illuminate only a portion of the segments by enabling some switches and inhibiting the rest. This function can be implemented in a much simpler fashion by enabling all the switches for a portion of the scan cycle and inhibiting them for the remainder. This eliminates individual logic control from the input signal to each switch. The input signal and output EL switches now become related through the time domain resulting in a greatly simplified control situation.

An enable pulse can be generated from the input analog signal which, if kept synchronous with the scan cycle, can accomplish the desired effect (see Figure 61).

Therefore scanning allows a relatively simple control technique which eliminates conventional A/D conversions and matrix selection.

This basic principle can be expanded by varying the time occurrence and width of the scan enable pulse.





Π

1

To mechanize the simulated runway, lateral position was allowed to be controlled by an analog localizer input signal while runway width was controlled by an analog altitude signal. These two basic input signals are utilized in a modified scanning approach to fulfill the runway display requirement.



LOCALIZER-ALTITUDE SIGNAL FLOW DIAGRAM FIGURE 62 The raw localizer and radar altitude signals are each modulated for isolation, filtered, and demodulated prior to control processing. The localizer basic signal is ± 75 millivolts per dot deviation. Potentiometers for gain and filter control are available on board No. 113. The altitude input is scaled at -40 millivolts per foot. The range extends to 1000 feet. Similar gain and filter control potentiometers are available for altitude on board No. 111.

An alternate altitude signal is available by replacing board No. 111 with board No. 111X. This alternate board generates a simulated decreasing altitude signal as a function of time. It is initiated by the middle marker signal. Rate of altitude change and nonlinearity of that change are adjustable by potentiometers located on board No. 111X. Boards No. 111 and No. 111X are interchangeable.

After preliminary signal conditioning, localizer and altitude are available as DC analog inputs to be used in the modified scan control circuit. Figure 63 shows the signal timing diagram.

The basic scan period is 480 microseconds. The runway is composed of 47 segments utilizing 48 timing pulses of 5 microseconds each. One pulse per scan cycle is dumped. An odd number is required to allow one segment to be in the geometric vertical centerline of the display. The display is scanned once during the first half (240 microseconds) of each period and blanked during the second half. This eliminates fringing of adjacent scan periods. The 47 scan pulses are generated by matrix gating 6 "address" pulses and 8 "line" pulses. Basic timing is accomplished on board No. 101.

To convert the input analog localizer signal to a synchronous pulse, signal No. 104-3* is generated. The continuous comparison of the ramp and analog voltage result in signal No. 104-4. Next, this signal is synchronized (104-2) or made to change states during the nearest clock state change. This eliminates partially illuminated EL segments.

When signal 104-2 falls to logic zero, this indicates the center of the runway to be generated.

^{*} Signal numbers indicate first the circuit board number (104) and then the test point connector pin on that board. (3)



1

I

I

T

[]

П

[]

D

I

SIGNAL TIMING DIAGRAM FIGURE 63 At that time a second ramp is initiated (signal 104-9) which is used to compare against the altitude signal. Pulse signal 104-10 results and is synchronized to signal 104-12. Signals 104-2 and 104-12 are gated to produce signal 104-A. Signal 104-A represents the scan enable time period necessary to generate the right half of the runway. This signal time period will contain a specific number of scan pulses depending on the altitude signal. This number of scan pulses will equal the number of illuminated EL segments to the right of the runway blanked centerline.

This same number of pulses is counted, multiplied by two, and subtracted from 96. This operation places the time at which the left outer edge of the runway begins on the following scan period.

Therefore, during a given scan period:

- a. The center of the runway to be generated is located
- b. The number of segments which compose the right half of the runway is determined
- c. The time or number of pulses to arrive at the left edge of the runway in the next scan period is computed.

This data is then combined into signal 104-8 which represents the total runway position-in-time and width-in-time. Signal 104-16 represents the signal timing period which coincides with the centerline of the runway and is used as a blanking pulse.

The actual enabling and inhibiting (blanking) of the scan sequence is done by controlling the address drivers on board No. 103. Therefore, a modified version of the scanning technique was employed to generate the simulated runway.

Gain potentiometers are located on board No. 104.

Lateral Rate

Lateral rate, like speed error rate, is a derived function and is accomplished on boards No. 105 and No. 106. Its flow diagram is shown in Figure 64.



LATERAL RATE FLOW DIAGRAM FIGURE 64

Heading Error

The signal source for heading error is a differential synchro in the HSI scaled at 300 millivolts per degree. The phasing indicates the direction of heading error.

As shown in Figure 65, the input signal (400 Hz) is first transformed, isolated, and then demodulated on board No. 107.

This analog DC signal is then compared to an internal ramp resulting in a pulse of varying width. This varying width pulse is then used to gate a number of clock counts. This number is proportional to pulse width and is counted on board No. 108. The binary number is then parallel dumped into a flip-flop memory register where it is decoded on boards No. 109 and No. 110A. The computation is updated at a 2 kHz rate. The decoding utilizes a 6 x 8 matrix signal transfer to the indicator. This reduces the wires between units from 48 to 14.

Inside the indicator the 6×8 selection matrix selects the SCR driver to be energized. The SCR gating is such that whatever segment is energized, the two adjacent segments will likewise te driven. This results in a moving pointer display three segments wide.

Power Control

Power requirements for the Landing Instrument Subsystem are met by the power supply module, shown in Figure 66.



[]

ŝ.

I

Ī

I

1

[]





POWER SUPPLY MODULE FIGURE 66 Power input to the module is 115 volts 400 Hz via the converter. It converts this input power to ± 6 volts DC fixed, 300 volts DC variable, and two sources of 250 volts AC 800 Hz variable. All output power is routed back through the converter for consumption and distribution to the indicators.

The ±6 volts is used to supply the converter signal processing. The 300 volts DC is routed through the converter relay board to supply excitation for the simulated runway. One of the 250 volts 800 Hz (labeled "green") is routed through the relay board to the landing sequence display, speed error rate, speed error "on speed" bar, and localizer rate. The second 250 volts 800 Hz (labeled "amber") is routed through the relay board to the speed error and heading error displays.

The relay board controls excitation voltage to the displays and allows remote switching. Four 28 VDC discrete input signals received in the converter control this switching.

- Localizer valid
- Speed valid
- Localizer rate valid
- Heading error valid

Each of the three high voltage excitation supplies can be adjusted for balance on the power module. A master level control of the 115 volt 400 Hz power to the module allows simultaneous dimming of all landing instruments.

The power module is normally located in the engine instrument converter but is supplied electrically from the landing instrument converter and can be physically removed easily for testing or demonstration.

Fusing is provided on the landing instrument converter near the external connectors.

Test Unit

II

To facilitate testing, modification, and demonstration, the test unit shown in Figure 67 has been supplied.

The unit requires input power of 115 volts, 400 Hz, single phase and 28 VDC. It has a single output connector which mates with J3 on the converter.

The test unit supplies a simulated signal for each parameter and function in the Landing Instrument Subsystem and is readily controlled from the front panel of the unit.



TEST UNIT FIGURE 67

Solid State Clock

Functional Description

The solid-state clock, shown in Figure 68, consists of two separate timing systems that display real time and event time. Both displays consist of seven-stroke numeric characters. Real time is displayed in hours, minutes and seconds by the top set of characters. Event time is displayed in minutes and seconds up to one hour by the bottom set of characters.

The time base for both systems is an Accutron Model TE-11 batteryoperated cycle timer. This unit provides one pulse per second with an accuracy of ± 2 second per day.

The function switch for the real time contains RUN, DISPLAY and SET positions. In the RUN position real time is being accumulated but the seven-stroke EL segments are not lighted. The display is lighted and time is accumulated when the switch is in the DISPLAY position. When the switch is in the SET position the seconds are



automatically to zero. In this position the display can be set to the desired time by activating the individual buttons for the minutes and hours.

The function switch for the event timer contains TIME HOLD and OFF positions. In the TIME position, the event time is being accumulated. In the HOLD position, the counters are stopped and the value is displayed. In the OFF position, the display is turned OFF and the counters are reset to zero.

Display Electronics Real Time Display

The block diagram for the real time display is shown by Figure 69. The 1 Hz pulse from the timer logic is fed to the first control gate. This pulse is then accumulated in the units 0 - 9 counter. Every 10th pulse is passed on to the next control gate and hence to the next counter. This is propagated on to the next counters to obtain minutes and hours.

When the function switch is placed in the SET position, the seconds digits are reset to zero and the other digits can be updated by pushing the individual set buttons. These will be updated at a 1 Hz rate as long as the button is depressed.

The counters are made up from an integrated circuit diode matrix and a flip flop for each counter. The control gates are made up of integrated circuit logic gates.

The outputs of the counters are decoded to 7 segment information by a diode matrix. These decoders drive silicon controlled rectifiers which are used to switch the AC excitation to the EL segments.

Display Electronics Event Timer

The block diagram for the event timer is shown by Figure 70. The 1 Hz pulse from the timer logic is fed to the first control gate. This pulse is accumulated in the units 0-9 counter. Every 10th count is propagated on to the next counter, etc, to obtain 60 seconds and 60 minutes.

When the function switch is placed in the OFF position, the counters are reset to zero.

This timer uses counters and decoders identical to those used in the real time display.



.

I

I

I

I

I

I

Ι

I

Ι

Ι

I

I

I

I

REAL TIME DISPLAY BLOCK DIAGRAM FIGURE 69

97



١

EVENT TIMER BLOCK DIAGRAM FIGURE 70 []

Ţ

Ī

I

1

I

I

I

I

I

1

Ι

I

I
SECTION V

SUMMARY

This report has described the effort expended by LSI to design and build an EL instrument group for the T-39. This panel is designed to serve as a tool for panel lighting evaluation under flight test conditions. Figure 71 shows the panel under night lighting conditions.

The panel lighting controls have been designed to afford maximum light control during the evaluation. The lighting control philosophy is shown schematically in Figure 72. A master dimming control is provided for pilot inputs so the pilot can raise or lower the overall panel illumination. A day/night switch enables the pilot to turn "off" all panel lighting except the emitting displays for daylight operation. Individual trimming controls for each display will enable the experimenter to "set up" any panel lighting situation he desires to evaluate.

I

I

I

I





T

I

I

I

I

1

I

1

1

1

ļ

I

I

I

LIGHTING CONTROL PHILOSOPHY FIGURE 72

	MENT CONTROL DATA -	CAD.				
. (Security classification of title, body of ebetrec	t and indexing annotation must be	entered when	the overall report is + beserfied)			
Lear Siegler Incorporated (Tast	numerat Directory	2. REPORT SECURITY CLASSIFICATION				
4141 Eastern Avenue S. F.		U	nclassified			
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49541			26 GROUP			
and a second sec		_				
The design and fabrication panel	of an experimental	electrol	uminescent display			
Final report Covering	e detes)	1067 -	15 400 1660)			
AUTHOR(S) (Last name, first name, initial)	(I MAI	190/ -	15 APR 1969)			
Addis, Leroy (n) Wierenga, Baldwin J. Blanchard, Clark E.			•.			
REPORT DATE	Te TOTAL NO OF	PAGES	76 NO OF BEFS			
October 1969	101					
. CONTRACT OR GRANT NO	SA ORIGINATOR'S	REPORT NU	MB (A(S)			
F33615-67-C-1583						
в вполест но 6190	GRR-016-0	669				
« Task No. 619009		SO OTHER REPORT NO(S) (Any other numbers that may be at this report)				
•	AFFDL-TR-	69-106				
the state of the s	force Fright Dynamic	S LADOTA				
Ohto 45433.	12 SPONSORING MI	LITARY ACT	INITY			
Ohio 45433.	12 SPONSORING MI Flight Dynam	LITARY ACT	TWITY Dratory			
Ohio 45433.	12 SPONSORING MI Flight Dynam Air Force Sy	nics Laboreters Co	oratory			
0010 45433.	12 SPONSORING MI Flight Dynam Air Force Sy Wright-Patte	stems Co	oratory ommand r Force Base, Ohio			
Ohio 45433. This report describes in detail Lear Siegler, Inc. to design and panel. This panel includes all aircraft. The format for the di displays are grouped in three ca (a) Light Reflecting or flo mechanical, EL, wedge 1	the work expended by develop an experime displays necessary f splay was derived fr tegories: od lighted - This ca ighted displays	tegory 1	Trument Division of ectroluminescent displa oilot to operate the IFAX program. The			
 Ohio 45433. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES This report describes in detail Lear Siegler, Inc. to design and panel. This panel includes all aircraft. The format for the di displays are grouped in three ca (a) Light Reflecting or flo mechanical, EL, wedge 1 (b) Transilluminated or ba backlighted panels and 	the work expended by develop an experime displays necessary f splay was derived fr tegories: od lighted - This ca ighted displays ck lighted - This ca displays	tegory i	Trument Division of actrument Division of actroluminescent displa bilot to operate the IFAX program. The ancludes all the cludes all the EL			
Ohio 45433. This report describes in detail Lear Siegler, Inc. to design and panel. This panel includes all aircraft. The format for the di displays are grouped in three ca (a) Light Reflecting or flo mechanical, EL, wedge 1 (b) Transilluminated or ba backlighted panels and (c) Light Emitting - This ca minescent displays that control	12 SPONSORING MI Flight Dynam Air Force Sy Wright-Patto the work expended by develop an experime displays necessary f splay was derived fr tegories: od lighted - This ca ighted displays ck lighted - This ca displays ategory includes all utilize high contra	tegory i the sol	Trument Division of ectroluminescent displa office all the includes all the EL id state electrolu- ight reflectance			
 Ohio 45433. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES This report describes in detail Lear Siegler, Inc. to design and panel. This panel includes all aircraft. The format for the di displays are grouped in three ca (a) Light Reflecting or flo mechanical, EL, wedge 1 (b) Transilluminated or ba backlighted panels and (c) Light Emitting - This ca minescent displays that control This abstract is subject to spec foreign governments or foreign m of the Air Force Flight Dynamics Base, Ohio 45433. 	12 SPONSORING ME Flight Dynam Air Force Sy Wright-Patter the work expended by develop an experime displays necessary f splay was derived fr tegories: od lighted - This ca ighted displays ck lighted - This ca displays ategory includes all utilize high contra sationals may be made Laboratory (FDCR),	tegory i the sol st for 1 and each only wight-F	Twity oratory ommand r Force Base, Ohio trument Division of actroluminescent display oilot to operate the DIFAX program. The ancludes all the ncludes all the EL id state electrolu- ight reflectance a transmittal to th prior approval Patterson Air Force			

Į

I

I

[]

Π

[

0

[]

[

I

l

I

REY WORDS		LINK A	LIN	LINK		LINK C	
		LE WI	ROLE	#T	ROLE	*1	
Electroluminescent							
High Contrast							
Light Emitting Displays							
INST	UCTIONS						
the contractor, subcontractor, grantee, Department of De- nee activity or other organization (corporate author) issuing e report. REPORT SECURITY CLASSIFICATION: Enter the over- l security classification of the report. Indicate whether Restricted Dete" is included. Marking in the in second	10. AVAILAB itations on fur imposed by se such es: (1) "Qua report	ILITY/LI ther disso curity cla lifted req t from DD	MITATION N prinction of t salification, t uesters may (G''	OTICES he reportioning of a obtain co	Enter or t, other thinderd stat pies of th	ny lin an th lemen is	
ice with appropriate security regulations. GROUP: Automatic downgrading is specified in DoD Di- ctive 5200.10 and Armed Forces Industrial Manual. Enter	 (2) "Foreign announcement and dissemination of this report by DDC is not authorized." (3) "U. S. Government agencies may obtain copies of 						
e group number. Also, when applicable, show that optional arkings have been used for Group 3 and Group 4 as author- ed.	this i users	eport dire shall req	ictly from DD prest through	C. Othe	r qualified	1 DD	
REPORT TITLE: Enter the complete report title in all pital letters. Titles in all cases should be unclassified. a meaningful title cannot be selected without classifica- on, show title classification in all capitals in parenthesis mediately following the title.	(4) ""U. S. military agencies may obtain copies of this report directly from DDC. Other qualified users shall request through						
DESCRIPTIVE NOTES: If appropriate, enter the type of port, e.g., interim, progress, summary, annual, or final. ive the inclusive dates when a specific reporting period is overed.	(5) "All distribution of this report is controlled. Qual- ified DDC users shall request through						
AUTHOR(S): Enter the name(s) of author(s) as shown on in the report. Enter last name, first name, middle initial. military, show rank and branch of service. The name of e principal author is an absolute minimum requirement.	If the repo Services, Dep cate this fact 11, SUPPLE	ert has be ertment o and enter MENTAR	en furnished f Commerce, the price, if Y NOTES: U	to the Or for sale known. se for ac	ffice of Te to the pub Iditional e	rchni dic, spla	
REPORT DATE: Enter the date of the report as day, onth, year; or month, yean. If more than one date appears the report, use date of publication.	12. SPONSOI the department	RING MIL	ITARY ACTI	VITY: 1 boratory	Enter the i sponsorin	name Ng (pi	
D. TOTAL NUMBER OF PAGES: The total page count would follow normal pagination procedures, i.e., enter the umber of pages containing information.	13. ABSTRAC	RACT: Enter an abstract giving a brief and factual of the document indicative of the report, even thou iso appear elsewhere in the body of the technical re					
NUMBER OF REFERENCES: Enter the total number of ferences cited in the report.	port. If addit shall be attac	ionel spec	ce is required	. e conti	inuation s	heet	
 CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER: If appropriate, enter e applicable number of the contract or grant under which e report was written. 	It is high ports be unclu- end with an in	ly desirab assified. adication	le that the ab Each paragre of the militar	stract of ph of the y securit	r classifie e abstract ty classifi	d re- shell	
b, 8c, 6a 8d. PROJECT NUMBER: Enter the appropriate litary department identification, such as project number, boroject number, system numbers, task number, etc.	of the informa (C), or (U). There is a	ition in th	e paragraph,	represen	ted as (73	s), (S 1. H	
ORIGINATOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S): Enter the offi- al report number by which the document will be identified ad controlled by the originating activity. This number must bunique to this report.	ever, the sug 14. KEY WOR or short phrat index entries	gested ler tDS: Key les that d for catalo	words are technologing the repo	50 to 22 chnically report a ort. Key	5 words. y meaning nd may be words mu	ful te use	
b. OTHER REPORT NUMBER(S): If the report has been usigned any other report numbers (either by the originator by the aponsor), also enter this number(s).	selected so the fiers, such an tary project of key words but context. The	hat no see s equipme ode name t will be f acsignme	curity classif nt model desi , geographic followed by a ent of links,	ication i gnation, location, n indicat rules, an	required trade nam may be u tion of tec id weights	i Ide ne, m ised i inici is	